FIDELITY NATIONAL FINANCIAL INC /DE/ Form 10-Q November 09, 2006

Table of Contents

UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549 FORM 10-Q

QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

OR

o TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the Quarter Ended September 30, 2006

Commission File Number 1-9396 FIDELITY NATIONAL FINANCIAL, INC.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware 86-0498599

(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization) (I.R.S. Employer Identification Number)

601 Riverside Avenue, Jacksonville, Florida 32204

(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)

(904) 854-8100

(Registrant s telephone number, including area code)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days.

YES b NO o

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, or a non-accelerated filer. See definition of accelerated filer and large accelerated filer in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. (Check one)

Large Accelerated Filer b Accelerated Filer o Non-Accelerated Filer o

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). YES o NO b

As of September 30, 2006, 176,840,957 shares of the Registrant s Common Stock were outstanding.

FORM 10-Q QUARTERLY REPORT Quarter Ended September 30, 2006 INDEX

	Page
Part I: FINANCIAL INFORMATION	
Item 1. Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements	_
A. Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets as of September 30, 2006 and December 31, 2005	3
B. Condensed Consolidated Statements of Earnings for the three and nine month periods ended	
<u>September 30, 2006 and 2005</u>	4
C. Condensed Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Earnings for the three and nine month	
periods ended September 30, 2006 and 2005	5
D. Condensed Consolidated Statement of Stockholders Equity for the nine months ended	
<u>September 30, 2006</u>	6
E. Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the nine months ended September 30, 2006	
and 2005	7
F. Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements	8
Item 2. Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations	27
Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure About Market Risk	44
<u>Item 4. Controls and Procedures</u>	44
Part II: OTHER INFORMATION	
Item 1. Legal Proceedings	45
Item 1A. Risk Factors	48
Item 6. Exhibits and Reports on Form 8-K	50
EXHIBIT 31.1	
EXHIBIT 31.2	
EXHIBIT 32.1	
EXHIBIT 32.2	

Table of Contents

Part I: FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements

FIDELITY NATIONAL FINANCIAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(In thousands, except share and per share data)

	;	September 30, 2006		December 31, 2005
		(Unau	dited)	
ASSETS				
Investments:				
Fixed maturities available for sale, at fair value, at September 30, 2006				
includes \$289,770 and \$296,347 of pledged fixed maturities related to				
secured trust deposits and the securities lending program, respectively and at December 31, 2005 includes \$305,717 and \$135,249 of pledged				
fixed maturity securities related to secured trust deposits and the				
securities lending program, respectively	\$	3,079,036	\$	3,074,617
Equity securities, at fair value at September 30, 2006 includes \$0 and at	Ψ	2,077,020	Ψ	2,071,017
December 31, 2005 includes \$3,401 of pledged equities related to the				
securities lending program		192,631		210,168
Other long-term investments		366,905		162,910
Short-term investments at September 30, 2006 includes \$368,159 and at				
December 31, 2005 includes \$350,256 of pledged short-term investments				
related to secured trust deposits		689,416		1,116,494
Total investments		4,327,988		4,564,189
Cash and cash equivalents, at September 30, 2006 includes \$239,567 and				
\$305,609 of pledged cash related to secured trust deposits and the				
securities lending program, respectively, and at December 31, 2005				
includes \$234,709 and \$143,412 of pledged cash related to secured trust		906 202		512 204
deposits and the securities lending program, respectively Trade and notes receivables, net of allowance of \$28,233 at		806,303		513,394
September 30, 2006 and \$34,037 at December 31, 2005		766,392		637,808
Goodwill		4,861,734		2,873,861
Prepaid expenses and other assets		1,018,529		655,651
Capitalized software		704,567		530,341
Other intangible assets		1,179,126		641,420
Title plants		325,340		312,801
Property and equipment, net		529,433		375,152
	\$	14,519,412	\$	11,104,617
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY				
T to biffet an				
Liabilities:				
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities, at September 30, 2006 and December 31, 2005 includes \$305,609 and \$143,412, respectively, of				
security loans related to the securities lending program	\$	1,595,994	\$	1,241,860
scently rouns related to the securities lending program	ψ	1,070,777	Ψ	1,471,000

Deferred revenue	516,612	494,888
Notes payable	3,524,126	3,217,019
Reserve for claim losses	1,203,792	1,113,506
Secured trust deposits	875,317	882,602
Deferred tax liabilities	337,490	130,846
Income taxes payable	68,226	107,817
	,	,
	8,121,557	7,188,538
Minority interests and preferred stock of subsidiary	1,907,183	636,304
Stockholders equity:		
Preferred stock, \$.0001 par value; authorized, 3,000,000 shares; issued		
and outstanding, none		
Common stock, \$.0001 par value; authorized, 250,000,000 shares; issued,		
184,857,039 as of September 30, 2006 and 182,024,039 as of December		
31, 2005	18	18
Additional paid-in capital	4,477,000	3,530,969
Retained earnings	340,492	103,665
	4,817,510	3,634,652
Accumulated other comprehensive loss	(62,351)	(78,867)
Unearned compensation		(11,523)
Treasury stock, 8,016,507 and 8,016,507 shares as of September 30, 2006		
and December 31, 2005, respectively, at cost	(264,487)	(264,487)
	4,490,672	3,279,775
	, ,	, , , :-
	\$ 14,519,412	\$ 11,104,617

See Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements

3

Table of Contents

IDELITY NATIONAL FINANCIAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EARNINGS

(In thousands, except per share data)

	Three months ended September 30,				Nine months ended September 30,			
	2006 2005				2006		2005	
		(Una	udited)	(Unaudited)			
REVENUE:								
Direct title insurance premiums	\$	485,043	\$	641,542	\$	1,479,415	\$	1,702,397
Agency title insurance premiums		701,533		763,242		1,998,117		2,024,188
Escrow and other title related fees		267,744		323,506		808,468		864,472
Transaction processing		1,013,372		646,447		2,832,638		1,912,168
Specialty insurance		99,619		95,448		304,070		248,276
Interest and investment income		48,129		36,064		139,883		90,503
Realized gains and losses, net		4,805		8,699		30,121		34,281
Gain on sale of minority interest in FIS								318,209
Other income		14,577		12,937		41,378		36,645
Total revenue EXPENSES:		2,634,822		2,527,885		7,634,090		7,231,139
Personnel costs		863,163		841,051		2,632,935		2,396,243
Other operating expenses		610,732		442,001		1,706,137		1,282,250
Agent commissions		538,700		590,876		1,537,489		1,558,547
Depreciation and amortization		142,170		95,619		404,770		298,178
Provision for claim losses		118,643		135,354		357,210		333,320
Interest expense		65,931		48,466		183,536		120,001
Total expenses		2,339,339		2,153,367		6,822,077		5,988,539
Earnings before income taxes and								
minority interest		295,483		374,518		812,013		1,242,600
Income tax expense		109,920		144,189		302,069		354,577
Earnings before minority interest		185,563		230,329		509,944		888,023
Minority interest		57,992		15,926		143,381		39,081
Net earnings	\$	127,571	\$	214,403	\$	366,563	\$	848,942
Basic earnings per share	\$	0.72	\$	1.24	\$	2.09	\$	4.92
Weighted average shares outstanding, basic		176,048		172,515		175,119		172,686
Diluted earnings per share	\$	0.70	\$	1.21	\$	2.02	\$	4.79
Weighted average shares outstanding, diluted		180,783		177,540		180,123		177,254

Cash dividends paid per share \$ 0.25 \$ 0.75 \$ 10.75

See Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements

4

Table of Contents

FIDELITY NATIONAL FINANCIAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE EARNINGS (In thousands)

		nths ended iber 30,	Nine months ended September 30,			
	2006	2005	2006	2005		
	(Unau	ıdited)	(Unaudited)			
Net earnings	\$ 127,571	\$ 214,403	\$ 366,563	\$ 848,942		
Other comprehensive earnings (loss):						
Unrealized gain (loss) on investments and						
other financial instruments, net (1)	44,676	(15,636)	32,729	(24,930)		
Unrealized loss on foreign currency						
translation(2)	(5,043)	(518)	1,486	(13,770)		
Reclassification adjustments for gains						
included in net earnings (3)	452	2,859	(12,356)	(6,638)		
Reclassification adjustments relating to						
minority interests	(6,818)		(5,343)			
•						
Other comprehensive loss	33,267	(13,295)	16,516	(45,338)		
•						
Comprehensive earnings	\$ 160,838	\$ 201,108	\$ 383,079	\$ 803,604		

- (1) Net of income tax (benefit) expense of \$19.6 million and \$(9.5) million and \$9.4 million and \$(15.2) million for the three months and nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively.
- (2) Net of income tax (benefit) expense \$3.0 million and \$1.9 million and of \$6.8 million and \$0.2 million for the three months and nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005,

respectively.

(3) Net of income tax

expense of

\$0.1 million and

\$(1.7) million and

\$7.6 million and

\$4.1 million for

the three months

and nine months

ended

September 30,

2006 and 2005,

respectively.

See Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements

5

Table of Contents

FIDELITY NATIONAL FINANCIAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY (In thousands) (Unaudited)

	Common	ı Stock	Additional Paid - in	R	etained (Com	_		Unearned	Treas	ury Stock
	Shares	Amount	Capital	E	arnings		Income (Loss)	Co	mpensation	Shares	Amount
Balance, December 31, 2005 Adoption of SFAS 123R Exercise of stock	182,024	\$ 18	\$ 3,530,969 (11,523)	\$	103,665	\$	(78,867	7) S	11,523	8,016	\$ (264,487)
options Tax benefit associated with the exercise of	2,833		38,822								
stock options Merger with			22,072								
Certegy Inc. Other comprehensive income (loss)- unrealized gain on investments and other financial			862,296								
instruments Other comprehensive income (loss)- unrealized gain on foreign							20,373	3			
currency Other comprehensive income (loss)- reclassification to minority							1,486	6			
interest Stock based			16 575				(5,343	3)			
compensation Cash dividends (\$0.75 per share) Issuance of subsidiary stock, net of minority			16,575 23,007	((129,736)						

interests Capital

Contribution to

FIS (5,218)

Net earnings 366,563

Balance,

September 30,

2006 184,857 \$ 18 \$ 4,477,000 \$ 340,492 \$ (62,351) \$ 8,016 \$ (264,487)

See Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements

6

Table of Contents

FIDELITY NATIONAL FINANCIAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (In thousands)

	Nine months ended September 30,		
	2006 2005		
	(Unaud	lited)
Cash flows from operating activities:			
Net earnings	\$ 366,563	\$	848,942
Reconciliation of net earnings to net cash provided by operating activities:			
Depreciation and amortization	404,770		298,178
Net increase in reserve for claim losses	90,286		62,104
Gain on sale of minority interest in FIS stock			(318,209)
Gain on sales of assets	(30,122)		(34,281)
Stock-based compensation cost	56,754		24,547
Minority interest	143,383		39,081
Change in assets and liabilities, net of effects from acquisitions:			
Net (increase) decrease in secured trust deposits	(20,676)		1,344
Net decrease (increase) in trade receivables	98,964		(55,238)
Net increase in prepaid expenses and other assets	(183,219)		(122,165)
Net (decrease) increase in accounts payable, accrued liabilities	(163,067)		106,907
Net (decrease) increase in income taxes	(165,095)		157,710
Net cash provided by operating activities	598,541		1,008,920
Cash flows from investing activities:			
Proceeds from sales of investment securities available for sale	2,106,901		2,438,505
Proceeds from maturities of investment securities available for sale	228,890		270,787
Proceeds from sale of assets	4,653		21,343
Net proceeds from sale of equity interest in subsidiary			454,337
Cash received as collateral on loaned securities, net	11,075		3,388
Collections of notes receivable	4,265		3,973
Additions to title plants	(14,761)		(8,720)
Additions to property and equipment	(128,884)		(112,516)
Additions to capitalized software	(160,655)		(119,818)
Purchases of investment securities available for sale	(2,279,794)		(3,144,828)
Net proceeds (purchases) of short-term investment securities	427,069		(229,795)
Issuance of notes receivable	(4,133)		(6,145)
Acquisitions of businesses, net of cash acquired	(172,955)		(191,257)
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities	21,671		(620,746)
Cash flows from financing activities:			
Borrowings	\$ 630,171	\$	2,829,584
Debt issuance costs			(34,155)
Debt service payments	(790,674)		(1,091,001)
Dividends paid	(129,736)		(1,897,029)
Subsidiary dividends paid to minority interest shareholders	(40,896)		ŕ

Stock options exercised Tax benefit associated with the exercise of stock options Exercise of subsidiary stock options	38,822 23,473 40,516	44,393 31,069
Purchases of treasury stock Subsidiary purchases of treasury stock	(103,837)	(70,874)
Net cash used in financing activities	(332,161)	(188,013)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents, excluding pledged cash related to secured trust deposits Cash and cash equivalents, excluding pledged cash related to secured trust	288,051	200,161
deposits at beginning of period	278,685	136,022
Cash and cash equivalents, excluding pledged cash related to secured trust deposits at end of period	\$ 566,736	\$ 336,183
Supplemental cash flow information: Income taxes paid	\$ 341,000	\$ 177,300
Interest paid	\$ 192,262	\$ 104,353
Noncash investing and financing activities: Fair value of shares issued in connection with acquisitions	\$	\$ 1,625
Capital transactions of FIS	\$ 862,296	\$
See Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements		

7

Table of Contents

Fidelity National Financial, Inc. and Subsidiaries Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements

Note A Basis of Financial Statements

The unaudited financial information included in this report includes the accounts of Fidelity National Financial, Inc. and its subsidiaries (collectively, the Company or FNF) prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and the instructions to Form 10-Q and Article 10 of Regulation S-X. All adjustments considered necessary for a fair presentation have been included. This report should be read in conjunction with the Company s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005.

The Company made a reclassification adjustment to the Consolidated Statements of Income, included within this Quarterly Report on Form10-Q, with regard to the presentation of interest and investment income and other operating expenses. This adjustment was necessary to properly reflect certain credits earned as a reduction of other operating expenses as opposed to an increase in investment income. The adjustment resulted in a reduction of interest and investment income of \$2.6 million for the quarter ended September 30, 2005 and \$10.3 million and \$5.9 million for the nine month periods ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively, and a corresponding reduction of other operating expenses. This adjustment had no effect on net income.

Certain other reclassifications have been made in the 2006 Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements to conform to current period classification.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In September 2006, the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 108 (Topic 1N), Considering the Effects of Prior Year Misstatements when Quantifying Misstatements in Current Year Financial Statements (SAB 108). This SAB addresses how the effects of prior-year uncorrected misstatements should be considered when quantifying misstatements in current-year financial statements. SAB 108 requires registrants to quantify misstatements using both the balance sheet and income statement approaches and to evaluate whether either approach results in quantifying an error that is material in light of relevant quantitative and qualitative factors. When the effect of initial adoption is determined to be material, the SAB allows registrants to record that effect as a cumulative effect adjustment to beginning-of-year retained earnings. SAB 108 is effective for annual financial statements covering the first fiscal year ending after November 15, 2006. Management is currently evaluating the impact of SAB 108 on the Company s statements of financial position and operations.

In September 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 158, Employers Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Post Retirement Plans (SFAS 158). SFAS 158 requires entities to recognize on their balance sheets the funded status of pension and other postretirement benefit plans. Entities are required to recognize actuarial gains and losses, prior service cost, and any remaining transition amounts from the initial application of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 87,

Employers Accounting for Pensions, and Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 106, Employers Accounting for Postretirement Benefits Other Than Pensions, when recognizing a plan s funded status, with the offset to accumulated other comprehensive income. SFAS 158 will not change the amounts recognized in the income statement as net periodic benefit cost. All of the requirements of SFAS 158 are effective as of December 31, 2006 for calendar-year public companies, except for a requirement for fiscal-year-end measurements of plan assets and benefit obligations with which the Company is already in compliance. Management is currently evaluating the impact on the Company s statements of financial position and operations.

In June 2006, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109 (FIN 48). FIN 48 requires an evaluation to determine the likelihood that an uncertain tax position will be sustained upon examination, including resolution of any related appeals or litigation processes. If it is determined that it is more likely than not that an uncertain tax position will be sustained upon examination, the next step is to determine the amount to be recognized. FIN 48 prescribes recognition of the largest amount of tax benefit that is greater than 50 percent likely of being recognized upon ultimate settlement of an uncertain tax position. Such amounts are to be recognized as of the first financial reporting period during which the

O

Table of Contents

more-likely-than-not recognition threshold is met. Similarly, an amount that has previously been recognized will be derecognized as of the first financial reporting period during which the more-likely-than-not recognition threshold is not met. FIN 48 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2006. Management is currently evaluating the impact on the Company s statements of financial position and operations.

Recent Developments

On June 25, 2006, the Company entered into a Securities Exchange and Distribution Agreement (the SEDA) with Fidelity National Title Group, Inc. (FNT) and a merger agreement with Fidelity National Information Services, Inc. (FIS) (both amended and restated as of September 18, 2006), providing for the elimination of FNF s holding company structure, the sale of certain of FNF s assets and liabilities to FNT in exchange for shares of FNT stock, and the distribution of FNF s ownership stake in FNT to FNF shareholders. Pursuant to the SEDA, on October 24, 2006, FNT completed the acquisition of substantially all of the assets and liabilities of FNF (other than FNF) s interests in FIS and in FNF Capital Leasing, Inc., a small leasing subsidiary) in exchange for 45,265,956 shares of FNT s Class A common stock (the Asset Contribution). The assets transferred included FNF s specialty insurance business, its interest in certain claims management operations, certain timber and real estate holdings and certain smaller operations, together with all cash and certain investment assets held by FNF as of October 24, 2006. In connection with the Asset Contribution, FNF converted all of the FNT Class B common stock held by FNF into FNT Class A common stock and distributed the shares acquired by FNF from FNT, together with the converted shares, to holders of record of FNF common stock as of October 17, 2006 in a tax-free distribution (the 2006 Distribution). As a result of the 2006 Distribution, FNF no longer owns any common stock of FNT and FNT is now a stand alone public company with all of its approximately 218.7 million shares held by the public. Also, on November 9, 2006, FNF will merge with and into FIS, after which FNT will legally change its name to Fidelity National Financial, Inc. (New FNF). Beginning on November 10, 2006, FNT s common stock will trade on the New York Stock Exchange under the trading symbol FNF. FNF s current chairman of the board and chief executive officer has assumed the same positions in New FNF and the position of executive chairman of the board of FIS. Other key members of FNF s senior management will also continue their involvement in both New FNF and FIS in executive capacities.

Acquisitions among entities under common control such as the Asset Contribution are not considered business combinations and are to be accounted for at historical cost in accordance with EITF 90-5, Exchanges of Ownership Interests between Enterprises under Common Control. Furthermore, the substance of the proposed transactions and the merger is effectively a reverse spin-off of FIS by FNF in accordance with EITF 02-11, Accounting for Reverse Spinoffs. Accordingly, the historical financial statements of FNF will become those of FNT; however, the criteria to account for FIS as discontinued operations as prescribed by SFAS No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets will not be met. This is primarily due to the continuing involvement of FNT with and significant influence that FNT will have over FIS subsequent to the merger through common board members, common senior management and continuing business relationships. It is expected that FIS will continue to be included in FNF s consolidated financial statements through the date of the completion of the SEDA.

Note B Acquisitions

The results of operations and financial position of the entities acquired during any year are included in the Consolidated Financial Statements from and after the date of acquisition. The Company employs an outside third party valuation firm to value the identifiable intangible and tangible assets and liabilities of each of its acquisitions. Based on this valuation, any differences between the fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities and the purchase price paid is recorded as goodwill.

Certegy Inc.

On September 14, 2005, the Company through Fidelity National Information Services, Inc. (Former FIS) entered into a definitive merger agreement with Certegy, Inc. (Certegy) under which FIS and Certegy combined operations to form a single publicly traded company called Fidelity National Information Services, Inc. (NYSE:FIS). Certegy was a payment processing company headquartered in St. Petersburg, Florida. On January 26, 2006, Certegy s shareholders approved the merger which was subsequently consummated on February 1, 2006.

Table of Contents

As a result of the merger, FIS became one of the largest providers of processing services to U.S. financial institutions, with market-leading positions in core processing, card issuing services, check risk management, mortgage processing, and lending services.

Under the terms of the merger agreement, FIS was merged into a wholly owned subsidiary of Certegy in a tax-free merger, and all of FIS s outstanding stock was converted into Certegy common stock. As a result of the merger:

FIS s pre-merger shareholders owned approximately 67.4% of the combined company s outstanding common stock immediately after the merger, while Certegy s pre-merger shareholders owned approximately 32.6%,

FNF and its subsidiaries now own approximately 51% of the combined company s outstanding common stock, and

the combined company s board of directors was reconstituted so that a majority of the board now consists of directors designated by FIS s stockholders.

In connection with the merger, Certegy amended its articles of incorporation to increase the number of authorized shares of capital stock from 400 million shares to 800 million shares, with 600 million shares being designated as common stock and 200 million shares being designated as preferred stock. Additionally, Certegy amended its Stock Incentive Plan to increase the total number of shares of common stock available for issuance by an additional 6 million shares, and to increase the limits on the number of options, restricted shares, and other awards that may be granted to any individual in any calendar year. These changes were approved by Certegy s shareholders on January 26, 2006.

As part of the merger transaction, Certegy declared a \$3.75 per share special cash dividend that was paid to Certegy s pre-merger shareholders. This dividend, totaling \$236.6 million, was paid by Certegy at the consummation of the merger.

Generally accepted accounting principles in the U.S. require that one of the two companies in the transaction be designated as the acquirer for accounting purposes. FIS was designated as the accounting acquirer because immediately after the merger its shareholders held more than 50% of the common stock of the combined company. As a result, the merger was accounted for as a reverse acquisition under the purchase method of accounting. Under this accounting treatment, FIS was considered the acquiring entity and Certegy was considered the acquired entity for financial reporting purposes.

The purchase price was based on the number of outstanding shares of common stock of Certegy on February 1, 2006, the date of consummation of the merger, valued at \$33.38 per share (which was the average of the trading price of Certegy common stock two days before and two days after the announcement of the merger on September 15, 2005 of \$37.13, less the \$3.75 per share special dividend declared prior to closing). The purchase price also included the estimated fair value of Certegy s stock options and restricted stock units outstanding at the transaction date.

The total purchase price was as follows (in millions):

Value of Certegy s common stock	\$ 2,121.0
Value of Certegy s stock options	54.2
FIS s estimated transaction costs	5.9
	\$ 2,181.1

The transaction was accounted for by FIS under the purchase method of accounting, and as a result, the purchase price was allocated to Certegy s tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their fair values as of February 1, 2006. Goodwill was recorded based on the amount that the purchase price exceeds the fair value of the net assets acquired. The purchase price allocation was as follows (in millions):

Table of Contents

16

Table of Contents

Tangible assets	\$ 826.8
Computer software	131.6
Intangible assets	653.5
Goodwill	1,951.7
Liabilities assumed	(1,382.5)
Total purchase price	\$ 2,181.1

The allocation of the purchase price to intangible assets, including computer software, is based on studies and valuations that were finalized as of September 30, 2006. As a result, during the quarter ended September 30, 2006, the Company has adjusted its initial purchase accounting to reflect revalued customer contracts, computer software, deferred income taxes and assumed liabilities which resulted in a net adjustment to goodwill of \$56.9 million.

The following table summarizes the liabilities assumed that impact the purchase price allocation (in millions):

Notes payable and capital lease obligations	\$ 222.8
Deferred income taxes	224.4
Dividends payable	236.6
Dividend bridge loan	239.0
Liabilities associated with pension, SERP, and Postretirement benefit plans	32.6
Estimated severance payments to certain Certegy employees	10.0
Estimated employee relocation and facility closure costs	9.5
Other merger related	28.5
Other operating liabilities	379.1
	\$ 1,382.5

In connection with the merger, FIS announced that it will terminate and settle the Certegy U.S Retirement Income Plan (pension plan). The estimated impact of this settlement has been reflected in the purchase price allocation as an increase in the pension liability, less the fair value of the pension plan assets, based on estimates of the total cost to settle the liability through the purchase of annuity contracts or lump sum settlements to the beneficiaries. The final settlement will not occur until after an IRS determination has been obtained. In addition to the pension plan obligation, FIS assumed liabilities for Certegy s Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan (SERP) and Postretirement Benefit Plan. The total liability recorded as part of the purchase price allocation related to all three plans, net of the fair value of plan related assets, was \$32.6 million.

The Company has evaluated the various lease agreements, vendor arrangements, and customer contracts of Certegy. This evaluation has resulted in the recognition of certain liabilities associated with exiting activities of the acquired company.

Also, the merger triggered the performance criteria relating to FIS s stock option grant made in March 2005 and these awards vested when the trading value of the Company s stock remained above \$31.27 for 45 days following the Merger. As a result, the Company recorded a charge of \$24.5 million in the first nine months of 2006.

Selected unaudited pro forma combined results of operations for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, assuming the Certegy merger had occurred as of January 1, 2005, using actual general and administrative expenses prior to the acquisition are set forth below (in thousands):

	Nine months end	Nine months ended September 30,				
	2006	2005(a)				
Total revenue	\$7,727,005	\$8,052,394				
Net earnings	\$ 319,940	\$ 814,200				

Pro forma earnings per share	basic	\$ 1.83	\$ 4.71
Pro forma earnings per share	diluted	\$ 1.78	\$ 4.59

(a) The nine months ended September 30, 2005 includes the \$318.2 million gain on sale of a minority interest in FIS.

11

Table of Contents

Other Transactions:

Cascade Timberlands LLC

The Company began purchasing equity interests in Cascade Timberlands LLC (Cascade Timberlands) in March 2006. As of September 30, 2006, the Company had acquired approximately 71% of Cascade Timberlands for \$89.2 million. The primary assets of Cascade Timberlands are approximately 293,000 acres of productive timberlands located on the eastern side of the Cascade mountain range extending from Bend, Oregon south on State Highway 20 toward the California border. Cascade Timberlands was created by the secured creditors of Crown Pacific LP upon the conclusion of the bankruptcy case of Crown Pacific LP in December 2004.

Acquisition of Equity Interest in Sedgwick

On January 31, 2006, the Company, along with its equity partners, Thomas H. Lee Partners (THL) and Evercore Capital Partners, completed an acquisition of an approximately 40% interest in Sedgwick CMS Holdings, Inc. (Sedgwick), for approximately \$126 million. Sedgwick, headquartered in Memphis, Tennessee, is a leading provider of outsourced insurance claims management services to large corporate and public sector entities.

Service Link L.P.

On August 1, 2005, the Company acquired Service Link, L.P. (Service Link), a national provider of centralized mortgage and residential real estate title and closing services to major financial institutions and institutional lenders. The initial acquisition price was approximately \$110 million in cash. During the third quarter of 2006, the Company paid additional contingent consideration of \$57.0 million related to this purchase, based on Service Link s operations meeting certain performance measures over a 12-month period ending July 2006.

Note C Recapitalization Transactions

Distribution of Fidelity National Title Group, Inc.

On October 17, 2005, the Company completed a pro rata distribution of shares, representing 17.5% of the outstanding common stock of FNT, to the Company s shareholders. This distribution completed a restructuring that resulted in FNT becoming the parent company of the Company s title insurance businesses. Following the distribution, FNT became a majority-owned subsidiary of FNF and a separate registrant reporting its results on a stand-alone basis. The Company continues to consolidate FNT in its results, and subsequent to the distribution, the Company began recording minority interest liabilities and expense relating to the 17.5% minority interest. This restructuring was a taxable transaction to the Company and the Company s shareholders. The Company recognized income tax expense of approximately \$108 million in the fourth quarter of 2005 relating to this restructuring which was paid in the first quarter of 2006.

Recapitalization of Former FIS in 2005

Table of Contents

The recapitalization of Former FIS was completed on March 9, 2005 through \$2.8 billion in borrowings under new senior credit facilities consisting of an \$800 million Term Loan A facility, a \$2.0 billion Term Loan B facility (collectively, the Term Loan Facilities) and an undrawn \$400 million revolving credit facility (the Revolver). Former FIS fully drew upon the entire \$2.8 billion in Term Loan Facilities, while the Revolver remained undrawn at the closing. The current interest rate on both the Term Loan Facilities and the Revolver is LIBOR plus 1.25% to 1.75%. Bank of America, JP Morgan Chase, Wachovia Bank, Deutsche Bank and Bear Stearns led a consortium of lenders which provided the new senior credit facilities.

The minority equity interest sale was accomplished through Former FIS selling an approximately 25% minority equity interest in the common stock of Former FIS to an investment group led by THL and Texas Pacific Group (TPG). Former FIS issued a total of 50 million shares of the common stock of Former FIS to the investment group for a total purchase price of \$500 million, before certain expenses paid by Former FIS. The minority equity interest sale resulted in a gain of \$318.2 million. This gain was calculated under the provisions of Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) Staff Accounting Bulletin Topic 5H (SAB Topic 5H) and relates to the issuance of securities of a non-wholly owned subsidiary. The gain represented the difference between the Company s book

19

Table of Contents

value investment in Former FIS immediately prior to the transaction and its book value investment in Former FIS immediately following the transaction. No deferred income taxes were recorded in connection with this transaction as the tax basis of the investment was greater than the book basis on the date of the sale.

Note D Earnings Per Share

The Company presents basic earnings per share, representing net earnings divided by the weighted average shares outstanding (excluding all common stock equivalents), and diluted earnings per share, representing basic earnings per share adjusted for the dilutive effect of all common stock equivalents. The following table illustrates the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share:

	Three mor Septem		Nine months ended September 30,				
	2006	2005		2006		2005	
	(In thousar	_			sands, except re amounts)		
Net earnings, basic	\$ 127,571	\$ 214,403	\$	366,563	\$	848,942	
Dilution relating to common stock							
equivalents of subsidiary(1)	\$ (1,293)	\$	\$	(2,851)	\$		
Net earnings, diluted	\$ 126,278	\$ 214,403	\$	363,712	\$	848,942	
Weighted average shares outstanding during the period, basic Plus: Common stock equivalent shares	176,048	172,515		175,119		172,686	
assumed from conversion of options	4,735	5,025		5,004		4,568	
Weighted average shares outstanding during the period, diluted	180,783	177,540		180,123		177,524	
Basic earnings per share	\$ 0.72	\$ 1.24	\$	2.09	\$	4.92	
Diluted earnings per share	\$ 0.70	\$ 1.21	\$	2.02	\$	4.79	

(1) For purposes of computing earnings per diluted share, FNF is required to analyze the dilutive impact of outstanding options at its public subsidiaries. FNT and FIS, and, if necessary, adjust the net earnings

available to

FNF

shareholders

before

calculating

earnings per

diluted share.

For the

three-month and

nine month

periods ended

September 30,

2006, net

earnings were

reduced by

\$1.3 million and

\$2.9 million,

respectively,

resulting in a

reduction of

\$0.01 and \$0.02,

respectively, in

earnings per

diluted share.

Options to purchase 1,409,399 shares and 1,945,380 shares of the Company s common stock for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2,301,852 shares and 2,988,274 shares for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2005, respectively, were not included in the computation of diluted earnings per share because they were antidilutive.

Note E Investments

During the second quarter of 2005, the Company began lending fixed maturity and equity securities to financial institutions in short-term security lending transactions. The Company s security lending policy requires that the cash received as collateral be 102% or more of the fair value of the loaned securities. These short-term security lending arrangements increase investment income with minimal risk. At September 30, 2006 and December 31, 2005, the Company had security loans outstanding with values of \$305.6 million and \$143.4 million, respectively, included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities and the Company held cash in the same amounts as collateral for the loaned securities.

13

Table of Contents

Gross unrealized losses on investment securities and the fair value of the related securities, aggregated by investment category and length of time that individual securities have been in a continuous unrealized loss position at September 30, 2006 were as follows (in thousands):

	Less than 12 Months		12 Months	or Longer	Total		
		Unrealized		Unrealized		Unrealized	
	Fair						
	Value	Losses	Fair Value	Losses	Fair Value	Losses	
U.S. government and agencies	\$ 29,751	\$ (91)	\$ 806,961	\$(14,395)	\$ 836,712	\$(14,486)	
States and political subdivisions	176,054	(739)	635,369	(8,820)	811,423	(9,559)	
Foreign government and agencies	5,978	(17)	23,508	(414)	29,486	(431)	
Corporate securities	150,631	(1,349)	432,408	(12,024)	583,039	(13,373)	
Equity securities	138,684	(23,074)			138,684	(23,074)	
Total temporarily impaired securities	\$501,098	\$(25,270)	\$1,898,246	\$(35,654)	\$2,399,344	\$(60,923)	

A substantial portion of the Company sunrealized losses relate to its holdings of debt securities. Unrealized losses relating to U.S. government, state and political subdivision and fixed maturity corporate holdings were primarily caused by interest rate increases. Since the decline in fair value of these investments is attributable to changes in interest rates and not credit quality, and the Company has the intent and ability to hold these securities, the Company does not consider these investments other-than-temporarily impaired. The unrealized losses related to equity securities were caused by market changes that the Company considers to be temporary and thus the Company does not consider these investments other-than-temporarily impaired. During the third quarter of 2006, the Company recorded an impairment charge on an equity investment that it considered to be other-than-temporarily impaired, resulting in a charge of \$9.1 million. During the third quarter of 2005, the Company recorded an impairment charge on two equity investments that it considered to be other-than-temporarily impaired, which resulted in a charge of \$14.9 million.

Note F Stock-Based Compensation Plans

The Company s 1993 Stock Plan (1993 Plan) expired in June 2003. Options generally had a term of 10 years from the date of grant and were exercisable subject to the terms and conditions set by the Board of Directors. The per share option price was determined at the date of grant, provided that the price for incentive stock options shall not be less than 100% of their market value or award stock shares. A total of 599,802 stock options were outstanding under the 1993 Plan as of September 30, 2006. No further awards may be granted under this plan.

In connection with the 1998 acquisition of FNF Capital, Inc. (formerly known as Granite), which was accounted for as a pooling-of-interests, the Company assumed 1,140,855 options outstanding under Granite s existing stock option plan (the Granite Plan), of which 24,524 stock options were outstanding as of September 30, 2006. The Granite Plan provides that qualified stock options be granted at an exercise price equal to fair market value on the date of the grant with a term not to exceed 10 years. The Granite Plan also provides that non-qualified stock options be granted at an exercise price not less than 85% of the fair market value on the date of grant with a term not to exceed 10 years.

During 1998, stockholders approved the adoption of the 1998 Stock Incentive Plan (1998 Plan). The 1998 Plan authorizes up to 9,985,828 shares of common stock for issuance under the terms of the 1998 Plan. As of September 30, 2006, there were 6,276,473 options outstanding under this plan. The 1998 Plan provides for grants of incentive stock options—as defined in Section 422 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, non-qualified stock options and rights to purchase shares of common stock (Purchase Rights). The term of options may not exceed 10 years from the date of grant (five years in the case of a person who owns or is deemed to own more than 10% of the total combined voting power of all classes of stock of the Company), and the right to exercise such options shall vest equally over three years. The option exercise price for each share granted pursuant to an incentive stock option may not be less than 100% of the fair market value of a share of common stock at the time such option is granted (110% of fair market value in the case of an incentive stock option granted to a person who owns more than 10% of the combined voting power of all classes of stock of the Company). There is no minimum purchase price for shares of

common stock purchased pursuant to a Purchase Right, and any such purchase price shall be determined by the Board of Directors.

14

Table of Contents

In connection with its merger with Chicago Title, the Company assumed the options outstanding under Chicago Title s existing stock option plans: the 1998 Long-Term Incentive Plan and the Director s Stock Option Plan. Pursuant to the terms of the merger, options under these plans, totaling 5,304,456, became fully vested on March 20, 2000. The options granted in accordance with these two plans generally have a term of five to 10 years. As of September 30, 2006, there were 317,060 options outstanding under these plans.

In 2001, stockholders approved the adoption of the 2001 Stock Incentive Plan (2001 Plan). The 2001 Plan authorized up to 4,026,275 shares of common stock for issuance under the terms of the 2001 Plan. As of September 30, 2006, there were 544,656 options outstanding under this plan. The 2001 Plan provides for grants of incentive stock options as defined in Section 422 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, nonqualified stock options, rights to purchase shares of common stock and deferred shares. The term of options may not exceed 10 years from the date of grant (five years in the case of an incentive stock option granted to a person who owns or is deemed to own more than 10% of the total combined voting power of all classes of stock of the Company), and are exercisable subject to the terms and conditions set by the Board of Directors. The option exercise price for each share granted pursuant to an incentive stock option may not be less than 100% of the fair market value of a share of common stock at the time such option is granted (110% of fair value in the case of an incentive stock option granted to a person who owns more than 10% of the combined voting power of all classes of stock of the Company). The option exercise price for each share granted pursuant to a nonqualified stock option may be less than the fair value of the common stock at the date of grant to reflect the application of the optionee s deferred bonus, if applicable. The 2001 Plan allows for exercise prices with a fixed discount from the quoted market price. Options were granted in 2003 at an exercise price of \$15.36 to key employees of the Company who applied deferred bonuses expensed in 2002 amounting to \$4.6 million to the exercise price. Pursuant to the terms of the 2001 Plan, there are no future exercise price decreases to options granted under this Plan in 2003 and beyond. In 2002, options were granted at an exercise price of \$11.41 to key employees of the Company who applied deferred bonuses expensed in 2001 amounting to \$5.7 million to the exercise price. The exercise price of these options decreases approximately \$0.35 per year through 2007 and \$.22 per year from 2008 through 2013, at which time the exercise price will be \$8.33.

In 2003, the Company issued to its non-employee Directors and to certain of its employees, rights to purchase 879,450 shares of restricted common stock (Restricted Shares) of the Company, pursuant to the 2001 Plan. A portion of the Restricted Shares vest over a five-year period and a portion of the Restricted Shares vest over a four-year period, of which one-fifth vested immediately on the date of grant. The Company recorded compensation expense of \$3.3 million and unearned compensation expense of \$23.0 million in connection with the issuance of Restricted Stock in 2003. The Company recorded compensation expense of \$1.3 million and \$1.3 million in the three-month periods ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively, and \$3.8 million and \$3.9 million in the nine-month periods ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively, in connection with these shares. The Company used 769,450 shares of its common stock held as treasury shares and 110,000 newly issued common shares for the sale of Restricted Shares to its employees and directors. As of September 30, 2006 and December 31, 2005, 387,310 shares of non-vested restricted common stock were outstanding. Shares issued relating to this plan vest on the anniversary of the grant date which was November 18, 2003.

In connection with the acquisition of ANFI, Inc. (ANFI), the Company assumed 988,389 options outstanding under ANFI s existing option plans: the American National Financial, Inc. 1999 Stock Option Plan and the American National Financial, Inc. 1998 Stock Incentive Plan. The options granted under these plans generally had a term of 10 years. As of September 30, 2006, there were 411,655 options outstanding under these plans.

In connection with the acquisition of Fidelity National Information Solutions, Inc. (FNIS), the Company assumed 2,585,387 options outstanding under FNIS existing option plans: the Fidelity National Information Solutions 2001 Stock Incentive Plan, the Vista Information Solutions, Inc. 1999 Stock Option Plan, the Micro General Corporation 1999 Stock Incentive Plan and the Micro General Corporation 1998 Stock Incentive Plan. The options granted under these plans generally had a term of 10 years. As of September 30, 2006, there were 734,788 options outstanding under these plans.

In connection with the acquisition of Sanchez Computer Associates, Inc. (Sanchez), the Company assumed 1,024,588 options outstanding under Sanchez 1995 Stock Incentive Plan. The option granted under this plan generally

had a term of 8 years. As of September 30, 2006, there were 280,797 options outstanding under this plan.

15

Table of Contents

In connection with the acquisition of InterCept, Inc. (InterCept), the Company assumed 1,708,155 options outstanding under InterCept s existing option plans: the 2002 InterCept Stock Option Plan, 1996 InterCept Stock Option Plan, 1994 InterCept Option Plan and the Boggs InterCept Stock Option Plan. The options granted under these plans were fully vested prior to the acquisition and the majority of them had a remaining term of 90 days which expired on February 7, 2005. As of September 30, 2006, there were 315,203 options outstanding under these plans.

In 2004, stockholders approved the Fidelity National Financial 2004 Omnibus Incentive Plan (the 2004 Plan). The 2004 Plan authorized up to 12,500,000 shares, plus the number of shares subject to prior plan awards that are outstanding as of the effective date of the 2004 Plan and that are deemed not delivered under the prior plans because of certain conditions. As of September 30, 2006, there were 2,897,300 options outstanding under this plan. The options granted under this plan have a life of 8 years and vest over a three year period. The 2004 Plan provides for the grant of stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, restricted stock units and performance shares, performance units, other stock-based awards and dividend equivalents.

Beginning in 2005, FNT and FIS also both issued stock options and restricted stock through their own plans. The awards outstanding under these plans impact the Company's diluted earnings per share based on the impact they would have on earnings available to the Company if the options and awards were exercised and diluted the Company's ownership percentage in the respective subsidiaries. For purposes of computing earnings per diluted share, FNF has to analyze the dilutive impact of outstanding options at its public subsidiaries, Fidelity National Title Group, Inc. and Fidelity National Information Services, Inc., and, if necessary, adjust the net earnings available to FNF shareholders before calculating earnings per diluted share. For the three-month and nine-month periods ended September 30, 2006, net earnings were reduced by \$1.3 million and \$2.9 million, respectively, resulting in a reduction of \$0.01 and \$0.02, respectively, in earnings per diluted share for each period.

Transactions under all stock option plans, including stock options granted by the Company s Board of Directors which are outside of the Company s stock option plans, are as follows:

	Weighted Average					
	Options	Exercise Price	Exercisable			
Balance, December 31, 2005	15,890,293	\$ 18.47	11,480,299			
Granted	183,500	39.20				
Exercised	2,837,625	13.69				
Cancelled/Expired	196,910	38.23				
Balance, September 30, 2006	13,039,258	\$ 18.73	9,935,651			

The aggregate intrinsic value of options exercised in the nine-month periods ended September 30, 2006 and 2005 was \$73.4 million and \$100.5 million, respectively.

The following table summarizes information related to stock options outstanding and exercisable as of September 30, 2006:

		Options Outsta	nding					O	ptions E	xer	cisable	9	
		V	Veighted	l		Iı	ntrinsic	7	Weighted	l			
		A	Average Weighted V		V	alue at		Average	We	ighted	Iı	ntrinsic	
						Se	ptember						
		Re	emainin	gAv	erage		30,	R	emainin	gA v	erage	V	alue at
Range	e of											Se	ptember
Exerc	ise	Number ofCo	ntractu	aEx	ercise	2	006 (in	Number of	ontractu	æЕх	ercise		30,
Price	es	Options	Life	P	rice	the	ousands)	Options	Life	F	Price		2006
\$.02	5.97	2,039,668	2.47	\$	4.78	\$	75,203	2,039,668	2.47	\$	4.78	\$	75,203
5.98	9.35	1,176,301	4.20		7.71		39,921	1,176,301	4.20		7.71		39,921
9.36	9.52	1,209,402	4.54		9.52		38,854	1,209,402	4.54		9.52		38,854

Edgar Filing: FIDELITY NATIONAL FINANCIAL INC /DE/ - Form 10-Q

9.53 11.11 24.84	11.10 24.83 25.32	1,297,673 1,748,098 2,182,677	3.22 5.39 5.95	10.45 15.61 25.32	40,488 45,526 35,644	1,297,673 1,592,846 1,246,746	3.22 5.38 5.95	10.45 15.56 25.32	40,488 41,556 20,360
25.33	32.61	215,293	3.49	29.60	2,593	190,100	3.04	29.29	2,350
32.62	33.03	1,748,246	6.00	33.02	15,082	590,980	5.93	33.02	5,101
33.04	42.02	1,170,614	7.25	35.03	7,745	340,649	7.09	35.02	2,259
42.03	171.86	251,286	4.45	50.39	(2,197)	251,286	4.45	50.39	(2,197)
\$.02	171.86	13,039,258	4.82	\$ 18.73	\$ 298,859	9,935,651	4.35	\$ 15.09	\$ 263,895

During the first quarter of 2006, the Company began accounting for stock based compensation under the provisions of SFAS 123R Share Based Payment (SFAS No. 123R) issued in December 2004 under the modified prospective method. Previous to this adoption, the Company had adopted the fair value recognition provisions of

16

Table of Contents

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation (SFAS No. 123), for stock-based employee compensation in 2003. Under the fair value method of accounting, compensation cost is measured based on the fair value of the award at the grant date and recognized over the service period. In 2003, the Company elected to use the prospective method of transition, as permitted by Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 148, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation Transition and Disclosure (SFAS No. 148). Under the fair value method, stock-based employee compensation cost is recognized from the beginning of 2003 as if the fair value method of accounting had been used to account for all employee awards granted, modified, or settled in years beginning after December 31, 2002. Prior year financial statements were not restated. The adoption of SFAS 123R using the modified prospective method did not have a material impact on the Company s financial position or results of operations for the first nine months of 2006 as all options that were previously accounted for under prior methods were fully vested as of December 31, 2005. Net income reflects expenses of \$11.1 million and \$7.8 million for the quarters ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively, and \$56.8 million and \$24.9 million for the nine-month periods ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively, which is included in personnel costs in the reported financial results. During the third quarter of 2006 the compensation committee approved the immediate vesting of stock options and restricted stock shares previously granted to a director who retired from the board of directors in the third quarter. Stock based compensation expense for the three-month and nine-month periods ended September 30, 2006 include a \$0.3 million charge for this acceleration of vesting. The expense for the first nine months of 2006 included \$24.5 million in expense relating to performance based options at FIS for which the performance and market based criteria were met during the first quarter.

The fair value for these options was estimated at the date of grant using a Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the following weighted average assumptions. The risk free interest rate used in the calculation is the rate that corresponds to the weighted average expected life of an option. The risk free interest rates used for options granted during the first nine months of 2006 and 2005 were 4.88% and 4.1%, respectively. The volatility factors for the expected market price of the common stock of 28.5% and 27.0%, respectively, were used for options granted in the first nine months of 2006 and 2005. The expected dividend yield rates used for the first nine months of 2006 and 2005 were 2.6% and 2.4%, respectively. Weighted average expected lives of 4.1 years and 4.0 years, respectively, were used for the first nine months of 2006 and 2005. The weighted average fair values of each option granted during the first nine months of 2006 and 2005 were \$9.25 and \$8.56, respectively.

Pro forma information regarding net earnings and earnings per share is required by SFAS 123R, and has been determined as if the Company had accounted for all of its employee stock options under the fair value method of that statement. The following table illustrates the effect on net income and earnings per share if the Company had applied the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123 to all outstanding and unvested awards for the three-month and nine-month periods ended September 30, 2005:

	Three months ended September 30, 2005		_ ,_	ne months ended otember 30, 2005
	(In thousands, except per share amounts)			
Not coming a segundad	¢	-		*
Net earnings, as reported	ф	214,403	\$	848,942
Add: Stock-based compensation expense included in reported net earnings, net of related tax effects Deduct: Total stock-based compensation expense determined under fair		4,918		15,483
value based methods for all awards, net of related tax effects		(5,215)		(16,448)
Pro forma net earnings	\$	214,106	\$	847,977

Earnings per share:		
Basic as reported	\$ 1.24	\$ 4.92
Basic pro forma	\$ 1.24	\$ 4.91
Diluted as reported	\$ 1.21	\$ 4.79
Diluted pro forma	\$ 1.20	\$ 4.77

At September 30, 2006, the total unrecognized compensation cost related to nonvested stock option grants was \$20.4 million, which is expected to be recognized in pre-tax income over a weighted average period of 1.2 years and the total unrecognized compensation cost related to nonvested restricted stock grants is \$7.4 million, which is expected to be recognized in pre-tax income over a weighted average period of 1.3 years. Also included in our consolidated stock-based compensation costs are stock based compensation at FNT and FIS. At September 30, 2006, the total unrecognized compensation costs related to FNT non-vested stock option grants was \$6.8 million, which is

17

Table of Contents

expected to be recognized in pre-tax income over a weighted average period of 3.1 years and the total unrecognized compensation costs related to FNT non-vested restricted stock grants was \$12.8 million, which is expected to be recognized in pre-tax income over a weighted average period of 3.0 years. At September 30, 2006, the total unrecognized compensation costs related to FIS non-vested stock option grants is \$44.6 million, which is expected to be recognized in pre-tax income over a weighted average period of 2.2 years. There are no outstanding restricted stock grants at FIS.

Note G Notes Payable

Notes payable consist of the following:

	S	September 30, 2006	Ι	December 31, 2005
FIS Term Loan A Facility, secured, interest payable at LIBOR plus				
1.25% (6.58% at September 30, 2006), 0.25% quarterly principal				
amortization, due March, 2011	\$	788,000	\$	794,000
FIS Term Loan B Facility, secured, interest payable at LIBOR plus				
1.75% (7.08% at September 30, 2006), 0.25% quarterly principal				
amortization, due March, 2013		1,730,000		1,760,000
FIS Syndicated credit agreement, secured, interest due quarterly at				
LIBOR plus 1.25% (Eurodollar borrowings) and Prime plus 0.25% (Base				
Rate borrowings) (6.58% and 8.5% at September 30, 2006), unused				
portion of \$285.8 million at September 30, 2006, maturing March 2011		114,200		
FNT Syndicated credit agreement, unsecured, at LIBOR plus				
0.4%(5.72% at September 30, 2006, unused portion of \$325 million at				
September 30, 2006)		75,000		100,000
Syndicated credit agreement, unsecured, interest due quarterly at LIBOR				
plus 1.25%, undrawn, unused portion of \$250 million at September 30,				
2006				
Unsecured notes, net of discount, interest payable semi-annually at				
4.75%, due September 2008		195,343		
Unsecured notes, net of discount, interest payable semi-annually at				
7.30%, due August 2011		247,481		249,437
Unsecured notes net of discount, interest payable semi-annually at 5.25%,				
due March 2013		248,818		248,651
Other promissory notes with various interest rates and maturities		125,284		64,931
	\$	3,524,126	\$	3,217,019

Through the merger with Certegy, the Company through FIS has an obligation to service \$200 million (aggregate principal amount) of unsecured 4.75% fixed-rate notes due in 2008. The notes were recorded in purchase accounting at a discount of \$5.7 million, which is being amortized over the term of the notes. The notes accrue interest at a rate of 4.75% per year, payable semi-annually in arrears on each March 15 and September 15. Through this merger, the Company also assumed approximately \$22.2 million in other notes payable and as result of the merger FIS borrowed \$180.0 million on its line of credit of which \$65.8 million was repaid prior to September 30, 2006.

Effective October 24, 2006, FNT repaid and terminated its \$400 million credit agreement and entered into a credit agreement (the FNT New Credit Agreement) with Bank of America, N.A. as Administrative Agent and Swing Line Lender, and the other financial institutions party thereto. The FNT New Credit Agreement provides for an \$800 million unsecured revolving credit facility maturing on the fifth anniversary of the closing date. FNT has the option to increase the size of the credit facility by an additional \$300 million, subject to certain requirements.

Amounts under the revolving credit facility may be borrowed, repaid and reborrowed by the borrower thereunder from time to time until the maturity of the revolving credit facility. Voluntary prepayment of the revolving credit facility under the FNT New Credit Agreement is permitted at any time without fee upon proper notice and subject to a minimum dollar requirement. Revolving loans under the credit facility bear interest at a variable rate based on either (i) the higher of (a) a rate per annum equal to one-half of one percent in excess of the Federal Reserve s Federal Funds rate, or (b) Bank of America s prime rate or (ii) a rate per annum equal to the British Bankers Association London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR) rate plus a margin of between .23%-.675%, depending on the Company s then current senior unsecured long-term debt rating from the rating agencies. In addition, FNT will pay a commitment fee between .07%-.175% on the entire facility, also depending on the FNT s senior unsecured long-term debt rating.

The FNT New Credit Agreement contains affirmative, negative and financial covenants customary for financings of this type, including, among other things, limits on the creation of liens, sales of assets, the incurrence of indebtedness, restricted payments, transactions with affiliates, and certain amendments. The FNT New Credit

18

Table of Contents

Agreement requires the Company to maintain certain financial ratios and levels of capitalization. The FNT New Credit Agreement also includes customary events of default for facilities of this type (with customary grace periods, as applicable) and provides that, upon the occurrence of an event of default, the interest rate on all outstanding obligations will be increased and payments of all outstanding loans may be accelerated and/or the lenders commitments may be terminated. In addition, upon the occurrence of certain insolvency or bankruptcy related events of default, all amounts payable under the FNT New Credit Agreement shall automatically become immediately due and payable, and the lenders commitments will automatically terminate.

Principal maturities of notes payable at September 30, 2006, are as follows (dollars in thousands):

2006	\$ 23,904
2007	55,600
2008	249,504
2009	61,590
2010	106,404
Thereafter	3,027,124
	\$ 3,524,126

Note H Segment Information

During 2005, the Company restructured its business segments to more accurately reflect a change in the Company s current operating structure. Accordingly previously reported segment information has been restated to be consistent with the current presentation.

Summarized financial information concerning the Company s reportable segments is shown in the following table. As of and for the three months ended September 30, 2006 (dollars in thousands):

Fidelity

				Fidelity National						
]	Fidelity National tle Group,		formation	Sp	ecialty	Co	orporate and		
		Inc.	Se	rvices, Inc.		urance		Other	minations	Total
Title premiums Other revenues Intersegment revenue	\$	1,183,141 281,152	\$	21,580 1,059,071 (67,489)	\$	99,619	\$	3,428 1,386	\$ (21,573) (45,916) 67,489	\$ 1,186,576 1,395,312
Revenues from external customers Interest and investment income, including	\$	1,464,293	\$	1,013,162	\$	99,619	\$	4,814		\$ 2,581,888
realized gains and (losses)		42,739		1,653		4,017		4,525		52,934
Total revenues	\$	1,507,032	\$	1,014,815	\$ 1	103,636	\$	9,339	\$	\$ 2,634,822
Depreciation and amortization Interest expense Earnings (loss) before income tax and minority		29,881 12,762 161,250		111,135 49,629 121,447		1,706 398 19,070		(552) 3,142 (6,284)		142,170 65,931 295,483

Edgar Filing: FIDELITY NATIONAL FINANCIAL INC /DE/ - Form 10-Q

interest					
Income tax expense	57,241	42,902	7,343	2,434	109,920
Minority interest	610	(35)		57,417	57,992
Net earnings (loss)	103,399	78,580	11,727	(66,135)	127,571
Assets	6,143,478	7,432,119	487,861	455,954	14,519,412
Goodwill	1,101,761	3,782,225	44,856	(67,108)	4,861,734
		19			

Table of Contents

As of and for the three months ended September 30, 2005 (dollars in thousands):

		E:dol:4v	Fidelity National									
	Fidelity National Title Group, Inc.		Information		Specialty		Corporate					
			Services, Inc.		Insurance		and Other		Eli	minations		Total
Title premiums	\$	1,405,295	\$	23,998	\$		\$	(1,270)	\$	(23,239)	\$	1,404,784
Other revenues		336,371		674,111		95,448		(9,875)		(17,717)		1,078,338
Intersegment revenue				(40,956)						40,956		
Revenues from external												
customers	\$	1,741,666	\$	657,153	\$	95,448	\$	(11,145)			\$	2,483,122
Interest and investment												
income, including												
realized gains and												
(losses)		32,577		5,878		2,387		3,921				44,763
Total revenues	\$	1,774,243	\$	663,031	\$	97,835	\$	(7,224)			\$	2,527,885
Depreciation and												
amortization		23,818		70,782		963		56				95,619
Interest expense		4,669		37,548		145		6,104				48,466
Earnings (loss) before												
income tax and												
minority interest		272,571		92,054		15,409		(5,516)				374,518
Income tax expense		102,137		32,245		6,008		3,799				144,189
Minority interest		700		1,917				13,309				15,926
Net earnings (loss)		169,734		57,892		9,401		(22,624)				214,403
Assets		6,042,067		2,887,843		201,140		1,778,729				10,909,779
Goodwill		1,074,017		1,354,572		22,669		425,524				2,876,782

Table of Contents

As of and for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 (dollars in thousands):

		Eidality		Fidelity National							
		Fidelity National Fitle Group,	Information		Specialty	Corporate					
	Inc.		Services, Inc.		Insurance	and Other		Eliminations			Total
Title premiums	\$	3,472,576	\$	58,683	\$	\$	4,714	\$	(58,441)	\$	3,477,532
Other revenues		845,238		2,944,850	304,070		4,608		(112,212)		3,986,554
Intersegment revenue				(170,653)					170,653		
Revenues from external											
customers		4,317,814		2,832,880	304,070		9,322	\$		\$	7,464,086
Interest and investment											
income, including											
realized gains and											
(losses)		137,771		6,831	11,410		13,992				170,004
Total revenues	\$	4,455,585	\$	2,839,711	\$ 315,480	\$	23,314	\$		\$	7,634,090
Depreciation and											
amortization		83,312		318,304	4,678		(1,524)				404,770
Interest expense		36,462		141,930	979		4,165				183,536
Earnings (loss) before											
income tax and											
minority interest		300,903		183,926	41,043		(15,928)				509,944
Income tax expense		165,610		108,109	25,958		2,392				302,069
Minority interest		1,889		(41)			141,533				143,381
Net earnings (loss)		299,014		183,967	41,043		(157,461)				366,563
Assets		6,143,478		7,432,119	487,861		455,954				14,519,412
Goodwill		1,101,761		3,782,225	44,856		(67,108)				4,861,734
				21							

Table of Contents

As of and for the nine months ended September 30, 2005 (dollars in thousands):

			Fidelity							
	J	Fidelity	National							
	National Title Group, Inc.		Information		Specialty	C	orporate			
			Services, Inc.		Insurance	and Other		Eliminations		Total
Title premiums Other revenues Intersegment revenue	\$	3,726,891 899,856	\$	61,290 1,997,112 (136,287)	\$ 248,276	\$	(306) (8,686)	\$	(61,290) (74,997) 136,287	\$ 3,726,585 3,061,561
Revenues from external customers Gain on issuance of subsidiary stock Interest and investment income, including	\$	4,626,747	\$	1,922,115	\$ 248,276		(8,992)			\$ 6,788,146
realized gains and (losses)		96,654		9,406	5,532		331,401			442,993
Total revenues	\$	4,723,401	\$	1,931,521	\$ 253,808	\$	322,409	\$		\$ 7,231,139
Depreciation and amortization Interest expense Earnings (loss) before		73,207 5,393		221,885 87,357	2,930 168		156 27,083			298,178 120,001
income tax and minority interest Income tax expense		663,397 248,774 1,992		250,374 93,139 6,171	40,418 15,561		288,411 (2,897) 30,918			1,242,600 354,577 39,081
Minority interest Net earnings (loss)		412,631		151,064	24,857		260,390			39,081 848,942
Assets		6,042,067		2,887,843	201,140		1,778,729			10,909,779
Goodwill		1,074,017		1,354,572	22,669		425,524			2,876,782

The activities of the reportable segments include the following:

Fidelity National Title Group, Inc.

This segment consists of the operation of FNF s majority owned subsidiary, FNT. FNT s title insurance underwriters Fidelity National Title, Chicago Title, Ticor Title, Security Union Title and Alamo Title together issued approximately 29.0% of all title insurance policies issued nationally during 2005. FNT provides core title insurance and escrow and other title related services including collection and trust activities, trustee s sales guarantees, recordings and reconveyances.

Fidelity National Information Services, Inc.

This segment consists of the operation of FNF s majority owned subsidiary, FIS, which provides transaction processing services, consisting principally of technology solutions for banks and other financial institutions, credit and debit card services and check risk management and related services for retailers and others. FIS also provides lender processing services, consisting principally of technology solutions for mortgage lenders, selected mortgage origination services such as title agency and closing services, default management and mortgage information services.

Table of Contents

Specialty Insurance

This segment, consisting of various non-title insurance subsidiaries, issues flood, home warranty and homeowners insurance policies.

Corporate and Other

The corporate and other segment consists of the operations of the FNF parent holding company (including certain smaller businesses and investments) and certain other unallocated corporate overhead expenses.

Note I Dividends

On February 8, 2006, the Company s Board of Directors declared a cash dividend of \$0.25 per share, payable on March 30, 2006, to stockholders of record as of March 15, 2006. On April 26, 2006, the Company s Board of Directors declared a cash dividend of \$0.25 per share, payable on June 30, 2006, to stockholders of record as of June 15, 2006. On July 20, 2006, the Company s Board of Directors declared a cash dividend of \$0.25 per share, payable on September 29, 2006 to stockholders of record as of September 14, 2006.

Note J Pension and Postretirement Benefits

The following details the Company s periodic (income) expense for pension and postretirement benefits:

	For the Three Months Ended September 30,						
	2006	2005	2006	2005			
	Pension	Benefits	Postretireme	ent Benefits			
	(In t	housands, except	t per share amou	ints)			
Service cost	\$	\$	\$ 2	\$ 38			
Interest cost	2,097	2,087	286	296			
Expected return on assets	(2,453)	(1,959)					
Amortization of prior service cost			(1,010)	(384)			
Amortization of actuarial loss	2,217	2,207	467	137			
Total net periodic (income) expense	\$ 1,861	\$ 2,335	\$ (255)	\$ 87			

	For the Nine Months Ended September 30,						
	2006	2005	2006	2005			
	Pension	Benefits	Postretirem	ent Benefits			
	(In t	housands, excep	ot per share amo	unts)			
Service cost	\$	\$	\$ 42	\$ 114			
Interest cost	6,291	6,261	814	888			
Expected return on assets	(7,359)	(5,877)					
Amortization of prior service cost			(2,215)	(1,152)			
Amortization of actuarial loss	6,651	6,621	1,020	411			
Total net periodic (income) expense	\$ 5,583	\$ 7,005	\$ (339)	\$ 261			

There have been no material changes to the Company s projected benefit payments under these plans since December 31, 2005.

Through the Certegy and Kordoba acquisitions, the Company assumed certain liabilities relating to defined benefit plans at FIS. The total liabilities relating to those plans is \$50.7 million and the impact on pretax earnings for the three months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005 was \$0.6 million and \$0.5 million, respectively, and for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005 was \$1.9 million and \$1.6 million, respectively. In connection with the Certegy merger, FIS announced that it will terminate and settle the Certegy U.S. Retirement Plan (pension plan) (see note B).

Note K Legal Proceedings

In the ordinary course of business, the Company is involved in various pending and threatened litigation matters related to its operations, some of which include claims for punitive or exemplary damages. The Company believes

Table of Contents

that no actions, other than those listed below, depart from customary litigation incidental to its business. As background to the disclosure below, please note the following:

These matters raise difficult and complicated factual and legal issues and are subject to many uncertainties and complexities, including but not limited to the underlying facts of each matter, novel legal issues, variations between jurisdictions in which matters are being litigated, differences in applicable laws and judicial interpretations, the length of time before many of these matters might be resolved by settlement or through litigation and, in some cases, the timing of their resolutions relative to other similar cases brought against other companies, the fact that many of these matters are putative class actions in which a class has not been certified and in which the purported class may not be clearly defined, the fact that many of these matters involve multi-state class actions in which the applicable law for the claims at issue is in dispute and therefore unclear, and the current challenging legal environment faced by large corporations and insurance companies.

In these matters, plaintiffs seek a variety of remedies including equitable relief in the form of injunctive and other remedies and monetary relief in the form of compensatory damages. In most cases, the monetary damages sought include punitive or treble damages. Often more specific information beyond the type of relief sought is not available because plaintiffs have not requested more specific relief in their court pleadings. In general, the dollar amount of damages sought is not specified. In those cases where plaintiffs have made a specific statement with regard to monetary damages, they often specify damages just below a jurisdictional limit regardless of the facts of the case. This represents the maximum they can seek without risking removal from state court to federal court. In the Company s experience, monetary demands in plaintiffs—court pleadings bear little relation to the ultimate loss, if any, it may experience.

For the reasons specified above, it is not possible to make meaningful estimates of the amount or range of loss that could result from these matters at this time. The Company reviews these matters on an on-going basis and follows the provisions of SFAS No. 5, Accounting for Contingencies when making accrual and disclosure decisions. When assessing reasonably possible and probable outcomes, the Company bases its decision on its assessment of the ultimate outcome following all appeals.

In the opinion of the Company s management, while some of these matters may be material to the Company s operating results for any particular period if an unfavorable outcome results, none will have a material adverse effect on its overall financial condition.

Several class actions are pending in Ohio, Pennsylvania, Connecticut, New Hampshire and Florida alleging improper premiums were charged for title insurance. The cases allege that the named defendant companies failed to provide notice of premium discounts to consumers refinancing their mortgages, and failed to give discounts in refinancing transactions in violation of the filed rates. The actions seek refunds of the premiums charged and punitive damages. The Company intends to vigorously defend the actions.

A class action in California alleges that the Company violated the Real Estate Settlement Procedures Act and state law by giving favorable discounts or rates to builders and developers for escrow fees and requiring purchasers to use Chicago Title Insurance Company for escrow services. The action seeks refunds of the premiums charged and additional damages. The Company intends to vigorously defend this action.

A class action in Texas alleges that the Company overcharged for recording fees in Arizona, California, Colorado, Oklahoma and Texas. The suit seeks to recover the recording fees for the class that was overcharged, interest and attorney s fees. The suit was filed in the United States District Court for the Western District of Texas, San Antonio Division on March 24, 2006. Similar suits are pending in Indiana, Kansas, and Missouri. The Company intends to vigorously defend these actions.

A class action in New Mexico alleges the Company has engaged in anti-competitive price fixing in New Mexico. The suit seeks an injunction against price fixing and writs issued to the State regulators mandating the law be interpreted to provide a competitive market, compensatory damages, punitive damages, statutory damages, interest and attorney s fees for the injured class. The suit was filed in State Court in Santa Fe, New Mexico on April 27, 2006.

The Company intends to vigorously defend this action.

24

Table of Contents

Two class actions filed in Illinois allege the Company has paid attorneys to refer business to the Company by paying them for core title services in conjunction with orders when the attorneys, in fact, did not perform any core title services and the payments were to steer business to the Company. The suits seek compensatory damages, attorney s fees and injunctive relief to terminate the practice. The suit was filed in State Court in Chicago, Illinois on May 11, 2006. The Company intends to vigorously defend these actions.

None of the cases described above includes a statement as to the dollar amount of damages demanded. Instead, each of the cases includes a demand in an amount to be proved at trial. One Ohio case states that the damages per class member are less than the jurisdictional limit for removal to federal court.

The Company receives inquiries and requests for information from state insurance departments, attorneys general and other regulatory agencies from time to time about various matters relating to its business. Sometimes these take the form of civil investigative subpoenas. The Company attempts to cooperate with all such inquiries. From time to time, the Company is assessed fines for violations of regulations or other matters or enters into settlements with such authorities which require the Company to pay money or take other actions.

The National Association of Insurance Commissioners and various state insurance regulators have been investigating so called captive reinsurance agreements since 2004. The investigations have focused on arrangements in which title insurers would write title insurance generated by realtors, developers and lenders and cede a portion of the premiums to a reinsurance company affiliate of the entity that generated the business. The U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) also has made formal or informal inquiries of the Company regarding these matters. The Company has been cooperating and intends to continue to cooperate with all ongoing investigations. The Company has discontinued all captive reinsurance arrangements. The total amount of premiums the Company ceded to reinsurers was approximately \$10 million over the existence of these agreements. The Company has settled most of the accusations of wrongdoing that arose from these investigations by discontinuing the practice and paying fines. Some investigations are continuing. The Company anticipates they will be settled in a similar manner.

Additionally, the Company has received inquiries from regulators about its business involvement with title insurance agencies affiliated with builders, realtors and other traditional sources of title insurance business, some of which the Company participated in forming as joint ventures with its subsidiaries. These inquiries have focused on whether the placement of title insurance with the Company through these affiliated agencies is proper or an improper form of referral payment. Like most other title insurers, the Company participates in these affiliated business arrangements in a number of states. The Company has settled the accusations of wrongdoing that arose from some of these investigations by discontinuing the practice and paying fines. Other investigations are continuing. The Company anticipates they will be settled in a similar manner.

The Company and its subsidiaries have settled all allegations of wrongdoing arising from a wide-ranging review of the title insurance industry by the New York State Attorney General (the NYAG). Under the terms of the settlement, the Company paid a \$2 million fine and will immediately reduce premiums by 15% on owner s policies under \$1 million. Rate hearings will be conducted by the New York State Insurance Department (the NYSID) this year where all rates will be considered industry wide. The settlement clarifies practices considered wrongful under New York law by the NYAG and the NYSID, and the Company has agreed not to engage in those practices. The Company will take steps to assure that consumers are aware of the filed rates for premiums on title insurance products and that the products are correctly rated. The settlement also resolves all issues raised by the market conduct investigation of the Company and its subsidiaries by the NYSID except the issues of rating errors found by the NYSID. As part of the settlement, the Company and its subsidiaries denied any wrongdoing. Neither the fines nor the rate reductions are expected to have a material impact on earnings of the Company. The Company cooperated fully with the NYAG and NYSID inquiries into these matters and will continue to cooperate with the NYSID.

In November 2006, the NYAG and NYSID raised an issue with respect to the applicability of the rate reduction to lenders policies. The Company and other defendants dispute this position.

Further, U.S. Representative Oxley, the Chairman of the House Financial Services Committee, recently asked the Government Accountability Office (the GAO) to investigate the title insurance industry. Representative Oxley

Table of Contents

stated that the Committee is concerned about payments that certain title insurers have made to developers, lenders and real estate agents for referrals of title insurance business. Representative Oxley asked the GAO to examine, among other things, the foregoing relationships and the levels of pricing and competition in the title insurance industry. A congressional hearing was held regarding title insurance practices on April 27, 2006. The Company is unable to predict the outcome of this inquiry or whether it will adversely affect the Company s business or results of operations.

On July 3, 2006, the California Insurance Commissioner (Commissioner) issued a Notice of Proposed Action and Notice of Public Hearing (the Notice) relating to proposed regulations governing rate-making for title insurance (the Proposed Regulations). A hearing on the Proposed Regulations took place on August 30, 2006. If implemented, the Proposed Regulations would result in significant reductions in title insurance rates, which are likely to have a significant negative impact on the company s California revenues. In addition, the Proposed Regulations would give the Commissioner the ability to set maximum allowable title insurance rates on a going-forward basis. It is possible that such maximum rates would be lower than the rates that the company would otherwise set. In addition, the Florida Office of Insurance Regulation (the OIR) has recently released three studies of the title insurance industry which purport to demonstrate that title insurance rates in Florida are too high and that the Florida title insurance industry is overwhelmingly dominated by five firms, which includes FNT. The studies recommend tying premium rates to loss ratios thereby making the rates a reflection of the actual risks born by the insurer. The OIR is presently developing a rule to govern the upcoming rate analysis and rate setting process and has said that it will use the information to begin a full review of the title insurance rates charged in Florida. New York, Connecticut, Nevada, New Mexico, Texas, and Washington insurance regulators have also announced similar inquiries (or other reviews of title insurance rates or practices) and other states could follow. At this stage, the Company is unable to predict what the outcome will be of these or any similar reviews.

Canadian lawyers who have traditionally played a role in real property transactions in Canada allege that the Company s practices in processing residential mortgages are the unauthorized practice of law. Their Law Societies have demanded an end to the practice, and have begun investigations into those practices. In several provinces bills have been filed that ostensibly would affect the way the Company does business. The Company is unable to predict the outcome of this inquiry or whether it will adversely affect the Company s business or results of operations. In Missouri a class action is pending alleging that certain acts performed by the Company in closing real estate transactions are the unlawful practice of law. The Company intends to vigorously defend this action.

The Company and its subsidiaries, FIS and Fidelity Information Services, Inc. ($\,$ FI $\,$), together with certain of its employees, were named on March 6, 2006 as defendants in a civil lawsuit brought by Grace & Digital Information Technology Co., Ltd. ($\,$ Grace $\,$), a Chinese company that formerly acted as a sales agent for Alltel Information Services ($\,$ AI $\,$), the predecessor to Fidelity Information Services, in China.

Grace originally filed a lawsuit in December 2004 in state court in Monterey County, California, alleging that FIS breached the sales agency agreement between Grace and AIS by failing to pay Grace commissions on certain contracts in 2001 and 2003. However, the 2001 contracts were never completed and the 2003 contracts, as to which Grace provided no assistance, were for a different project and were executed one and one-half years after FIS terminated the sales agency agreement with Grace. In addition to its breach of contract claim, Grace also alleged that FNF violated the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (FCPA) in its dealings with a bank customer in China. FNF denied Grace s allegations in this California lawsuit.

In December 2005, the Monterey County court dismissed the lawsuit on the grounds of inconvenient forum, which decision Grace appealed on February 10, 2006. Further, on March 6, 2006, Grace filed a new lawsuit in the United States District Court for the Middle District of Florida arising from the same transaction, and added an additional allegation to its complaint that FNF violated the Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations Act (RICO) in its dealings with the same bank customer. FNF and its subsidiaries intend to defend this case vigorously. On March 7, 2006, FNF filed its motion to dismiss this lawsuit, and on March 27, 2006, FNF filed an answer denying Grace s underlying allegations and counterclaiming against Grace for tortious interference and abuse of process. These motions have all been fully briefed and are pending before the Court. A pretrial management order has been entered providing for discovery, pretrial motion deadlines, and, if necessary, a trial in the later part of 2007.

Table of Contents

FNF and its counsel have investigated these allegations and, based on the results of the investigations, FNF does not believe that there have been any violations of the FCPA or RICO, or that the ultimate disposition of these allegations or the lawsuit will have a material adverse impact on FNF s or any of its subsidiaries—financial position, results of operations or cash flows. FNF and its subsidiaries, including FIS, have fully cooperated with the Securities and Exchange Commission and the U.S. Department of Justice in connection with their inquiry into these allegations. Item 2. Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The statements contained in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q that are not purely historical are forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, including statements regarding our expectations, hopes, intentions or strategies regarding the future. All forward-looking statements included in this document are based on information available to us on the date hereof, and we assume no obligation to update any such forward-looking statements. It is important to note that our actual results could vary materially from those forward-looking statements contained herein due to many factors, including, but not limited to: general economic and business conditions, including interest rate fluctuations and general volatility in the capital markets; changes in the performance of the real estate markets; the impact of competitive products and pricing; success of operating initiatives; adverse publicity; the ability to identify businesses to be acquired; availability of qualified personnel; employee benefits costs and changes in, or the failure to comply with, government regulations and other risks detailed in our filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC).

The Company made a reclassification adjustment to the Consolidated Statements of Income, included within this Quarterly Report on Form10-Q, with regard to the presentation of interest and investment income and other operating expenses. This adjustment was necessary to properly reflect certain credits earned as a reduction of other operating expenses as opposed to an increase in investment income. The adjustment resulted in a reduction of interest and investment income of \$2.6 million for the quarter ended September 30, 2005 and \$10.3 million and \$5.9 million for the nine month periods ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively, and a corresponding reduction of other operating expenses. This adjustment had no effect on net income.

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with the Company s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005.

Overview

Through the third quarter of 2006, we are a holding company that is a provider of outsourced products and services to a variety of industries. During 2005, we completed certain strategic initiatives, including contributing our title operations to a newly formed subsidiary, Fidelity National Title Group, Inc. (FNT) (NYSE:FNT) which in turn became a majority-owned, publicly traded company; selling a minority interest in our subsidiary Fidelity National Information Services, Inc. and agreeing to merge it with a separate publicly traded company, Certegy Inc. (Certegy). The merged entity is now known as Fidelity National Information Services, Inc. (FIS) (NYSE:FIS). Through FNT, we are one of the United States—largest title insurance companies, with an approximate 29.0% national market share in 2005. Through FIS, we provide industry leading data processing, payment and risk management services to financial institutions and retailers. Through our other wholly-owned subsidiaries, we are a leading provider of specialty insurance products, including flood insurance, homeowners insurance and home warranty insurance. Since February 1, 2006 when we closed our acquisition of an approximately 40% interest in Sedgwick CMS (Sedgwick), we are now a provider of outsourced insurance claims management services to large corporate and public sector entities.

We have four reporting segments:

Fidelity National Title Group, Inc. This segment consists of the operations of our majority owned subsidiary, FNT. FNT s title insurance underwriters Fidelity National Title, Chicago Title, Ticor Title, Security Union Title and Alamo Title together issued approximately 29.0% of all title insurance policies issued nationally during 2005. FNT provides core title insurance and escrow and other title related services including collection and trust activities, trustee s sales guarantees, recordings and reconveyances.

Table of Contents 44

27

Table of Contents

Fidelity National Information Services, Inc. This segment consists of the operations of our majority owned subsidiary, FIS. FIS provides transaction processing services, consisting principally of technology solutions for banks and other financial institutions, credit and debit card services and check risk management and related services for retailers and others. FIS also provides lender processing services, consisting principally of technology solutions for mortgage lenders, selected mortgage origination services such as title agency and closing services, default management and mortgage information services. FIS s credit and debit card services and check risk management services were added through our merger with Certegy. This merger closed in February 2006. Consequently, these businesses are not included in the financial information in this report for periods prior to February 1, 2006.

Specialty Insurance. The specialty insurance segment, consisting of our various non-title insurance subsidiaries, issues flood, home warranty, homeowners, automobile and certain niche personal lines insurance policies.

Corporate and Other. The corporate and other segment consists of the operations of the parent holding company (including certain smaller business and investments) and certain other unallocated corporate overhead expenses. On June 25, 2006, the Company entered into a Securities Exchange and Distribution Agreement (the SEDA) with FNT and a merger agreement with FIS (both amended and restated as of September 18, 2006), providing for the elimination of FNF s holding company structure, the sale of certain of FNF s assets and liabilities to FNT in exchange for shares of FNT stock, and the distribution of FNF s ownership stake in FNT to FNF shareholders. Pursuant to the SEDA, on October 24, 2006, FNT completed the acquisition of substantially all of the assets and liabilities of FNF (other than FNF) s interests in FIS and in FNF Capital Leasing, Inc., a small subsidiary) in exchange for 45,265,956 shares of FNT s Class A common stock (the Asset Contribution). The assets transferred included FNF s specialty insurance business, its interest in certain claims management operations, certain timber and real estate holdings and certain smaller operations, together with all cash and certain investment assets held by FNF as of October 24, 2006. In connection with the Asset Contribution, FNF converted all of the FNT Class B common stock held by FNF into FNT Class A common stock and distributed the shares acquired by FNF from FNT, together with the converted shares, to holders of record of FNF common stock as of October 17, 2006 in a tax-free distribution (the 2006 Distribution). As a result of the 2006 Distribution, FNF no longer owns any common stock of FNT and FNT is now a stand alone public company with all of its approximately 218.7 million shares held by the public. Also, on November 9, 2006, FNF will merge with and into FIS, after which FNT will legally change its name to Fidelity National Financial, Inc. (New FNF). Beginning on November 10, 2006, FNT s common stock will trade on the New York Stock Exchange under the trading symbol FNF. FNF s current chairman of the board and chief executive officer, William P. Foley, II, has assumed the same positions in New FNF and the position of executive chairman of the board of FIS. Other key members of FNF s senior management will also continue their involvement in both New FNF and FIS in executive capacities.

Acquisitions among entities under common control such as the Asset Contribution are not considered business combinations and are to be accounted for at historical cost in accordance with EITF 90-5, Exchanges of Ownership Interests between Enterprises under Common Control. Furthermore, the substance of the proposed transactions and the merger is effectively a reverse spin-off of FIS by FNF in accordance with EITF 02-11, Accounting for Reverse Spinoffs. Accordingly, the historical financial statements of FNF will become those of FNT; however, the criteria to account for FIS as discontinued operations as prescribed by SFAS No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets will not be met. This is primarily due to the continuing involvement of FNT with and significant influence that FNT will have over FIS subsequent to the merger through common board members, common senior management and continuing business relationships. It is expected that FIS will continue to be included in FNF s consolidated financial statements through the date of completion of the SEDA.

Factors Affecting Comparability

Our Condensed Consolidated Statements of Earnings for the three-month and nine-month periods ended September 30, 2006 include the results of operations of Certegy Inc. (Certegy), which was acquired on February 1, 2006, as discussed in Note B of Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements. This acquisition may affect

the comparability of our 2006 and 2005 results of operations, particularly with respect to FIS in which the 28

Table of Contents

operating results of Certegy are included since its merger date. Our 2005 results also include a gain of \$318.2 million on the sale of a minority interest in FIS and additional minority interest expense relating to that transaction and to the FNT distribution.

Results of Operations

Consolidated Results of Operations

Net Earnings. The following table presents certain financial data for the years indicated:

	Three Months Ended September 30,		Nine Months Ended September 30,				
	2006		2005		2006		2005
	(Dollars in	thous	sands,	(Dollars in thousands,			
	except per	share	data)	except per share data)			
Total revenue	\$ 2,634,822	\$	2,527,885	\$	7,634,090	\$	7,231,139
Total expenses	\$ 2,339,339	\$	2,153,367	\$	6,822,077	\$	5,988,539
Net earnings	\$ 127,571	\$	214,403	\$	366,563	\$	848,942
Basic net earnings per share	\$ 0.72	\$	1.24	\$	2.09	\$	4.92
Diluted net earnings per share	\$ 0.70	\$	1.21	\$	2.02	\$	4.79

Revenue. The following table presents the components of our revenue:

	Three Mo	nths Ended	Nine Months Ended			
	Septen	nber 30,	Septem	ber 30,		
	2006	2005	2006	2005		
	(Dollars in	thousands)	(Dollars in	thousands)		
Direct title insurance premiums	\$ 485,043	\$ 641,542	\$ 1,479,415	\$ 1,702,397		
Agency title insurance premiums	701,533	763,242	1,998,117	2,024,188		
Escrow and other title related fees	267,744	323,506	808,468	864,472		
Transaction processing	1,013,372	646,447	2,832,638	1,912,168		
Specialty insurance	99,619	95,448	304,070	248,276		
Interest and investment income	48,129	36,064	139,883	90,503		
Realized gains and losses, net	4,805	8,699	30,121	34,281		
Gain on issuance of subsidiary stock				318,209		
Other income	14,577	12,937	41,378	36,645		
Total revenue	\$ 2,634,822	\$ 2,527,885	\$ 7,634,090	\$ 7,231,139		
Orders opened by direct title operations (1) Orders closed by direct title operations	811,400	976,600	2,490,700	2,843,600		
(1)	521,900	694,000	1,602,700	1,891,100		

(1) These measures are used by management to judge

productivity and are a measure of transaction volume for our title businesses. An order is opened when we receive a customer order and is closed when the related real estate transaction closes, which typically takes 45-60 days from the opening of an order.

Revenues

Total consolidated revenues for the third quarter of 2006 increased \$106.9 million or 4.2% to \$2,634.8 million, primarily due to a \$366.9 million increase in transaction processing revenues, and a \$12.1 million increase in interest and investment income, partially offset by decreases in direct and agency title insurance premiums of \$156.5 million and \$61.7 million, respectively, and a decrease of \$55.8 million in escrow and other title related fees. Total consolidated revenues for the first nine months of 2006 increased \$402.9 million or 5.6% to \$7,634.1 million, primarily due to a \$920.5 million increase in transaction processing revenues, a \$55.8 million increase in specialty insurance revenues, and a \$49.4 million increase in interest and investment income, offset by a \$318.2 million gain recognized in the 2005 period relating to the issuance of subsidiary stock in the sale of a minority interest in FIS, decreases in direct and agency title insurance premiums of \$223.0 million and \$26.1 million, respectively, and a decrease of \$56.0 million in escrow and other title related fees. Excluding the net gain on issuance of subsidiary stock, total revenue increased \$721.2 million or 10.4% as compared to the prior year period. The large increases in transaction processing revenues attributable to FIS for the three-month and nine-month periods ended September 30, 2006 compared to 2005 were due to \$290.3 million and \$761.9 million, respectively, of revenues from the inclusion

29

Table of Contents

of the results of Certegy from its merger date of February 1, 2006 through September 30, 2006 and an increase in revenues from the historically owned transaction processing and lender processing businesses within FIS. The increases in specialty insurance revenues were primarily the result of additional flood claim processing revenues resulting from the 2005 hurricane season and increased revenues from the homeowner s insurance businesses. Consolidated title insurance premiums for the three and nine-month periods were as follows:

	Three months ended September 30,				Nine months ended September 30,						
	2006	%		2005	%	2006	%	2005	%		
	$(\Gamma$	ollars in t	hou	ısands)		$(\Gamma$	(Dollars in thousands)				
Title premiums from direct operations (1) Title premiums from agency	\$ 485,043	40.9%	\$	641,542	45.7%	\$ 1,479,415	42.5%	\$ 1,702,397	45.7%		
operations (1)	701,533	59.1%		763,242	54.3%	1,998,117	57.5%	2,024,188	54.3%		
Total	\$ 1,186,576	100.0%	\$	1,404,784	100.0%	\$ 3,477,532	100.0%	\$ 3,726,585	100.0%		

(1) Includes premiums reported by FNT and FIS.

Title insurance premiums decreased 15.5% to \$1,186.6 million in the third quarter of 2006 as compared with the third quarter of 2005. The decrease was made up of a \$156.5 million or 24.4% decrease in direct premiums and a \$61.7 million or 8.1% decrease in premiums from agency operations. Title insurance premiums decreased 6.7% to \$3,477.5 million in the first nine months of 2006 as compared with the first nine months of 2005. The decrease was made up of a \$223.0 million or 13.1% decrease in direct premiums and a \$26.1 million or 1.3% decrease in premiums from agency operations.

The decreased level of direct title premiums is the result of a decrease in closed order volume and was partially offset by an increase in fee per file, reflecting a declining refinance market and a slowing purchase market. Closed order volumes decreased to 521,900 in the third quarter of 2006 compared to 694,000 in the third quarter of 2005 and to 1,602,700 in the first nine months of 2006 compared to 1,891,100 in the first nine months of 2005. The average fee per file in our direct operations was \$1,406 in the third quarter of 2006 compared to \$1,370 in the third quarter of 2005 and \$1,391 in the first nine months of 2006 compared to \$1,341 in the first nine months of 2005, reflecting a strong commercial market, the decrease in refinance activity, and continued appreciation in home prices. The fee per file tends to increase as mortgage interest rates rise, and the mix of business changes from a predominantly refinance-driven market to more of a resale-driven market because resale transactions generally involve the issuance of both a lender s policy and an owner s policy whereas refinance transactions typically only require a lender s policy.

We are using accrual basis accounting to record agency premiums in a manner that is generally consistent with direct premium activity because our agents typically experience the same market conditions that other direct title insurance companies experience. The changes in agency premiums during the three-month and nine-month periods ended September 30, 2006 as compared to the corresponding 2005 periods were more favorable than the changes in direct premiums due to the fact that title insurance markets are currently stronger in geographic regions where title insurance business is more agency driven. During the third quarter and first nine months of 2006, agency premiums decreased 8.1% and 1.3%, respectively, compared to the corresponding 2005 periods, while direct title premiums decreased 24.4% and 13.1%, respectively, during the same periods.

Trends in escrow and other title related fees are, to some extent, related to title insurance activity generated by our direct operations. Escrow fees, which are more directly related to our direct operations than are other title related fees,

fluctuated in a pattern generally consistent with the fluctuation in direct title insurance premiums and order counts. Escrow and other title related fees were \$267.7 million and \$323.5 million for the third quarters of 2006 and 2005, respectively, and \$808.5 million and \$864.5 million in the first nine months of 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Interest and investment income levels are primarily a function of securities markets, interest rates and the amount of cash available for investment. Interest and investment income in the third quarter of 2006 was \$48.1 million, compared with \$36.1 million in the third quarter of 2005, an increase of \$12.0 million, or 33.5 %. Interest and investment income in the first nine months of 2006 was \$139.9 million, compared with \$90.5 million in the first nine months of 2005. The increases are primarily due to increases in interest rates for cash and short-term investments, increases in earnings from the securities lending program, increases in average balances and yield rates

30

Table of Contents

for long-term fixed income assets, and, for the nine month periods, a special dividend paid on our holdings of Certegy Inc. common stock in the first quarter of 2006 before its merger with FIS.

Net realized gains for the third quarter of 2006 decreased to \$4.8 million compared to \$8.7 million for the third quarter of 2005, primarily due to a gain on sale of real estate in the 2005 period and capital losses in the 2006 period with no capital losses in the 2005 period, partially offset by lower impairment charges and higher capital gains in the 2006 period. During the third quarter of 2006, the Company recorded an impairment charge on an equity investment that it considered to be other-than-temporarily impaired, resulting in a charge of \$9.1 million, compared to impairment charges totaling \$14.9 million on two equity investments in the third quarter of 2005. Net realized gains for the first nine months of 2006 decreased to \$30.1 million from \$34.3 million in the first nine months of 2005, primarily due to lower net realized gains on other assets, including the 2005 sale of real estate mentioned above, partially offset by the lower third quarter impairment charges mentioned above and lower capital losses in 2006.

Expenses. The following table presents the components of our expenses:

	Three Mon	Nine Months Ended			
	Septem	ıber 30,	September 30,		
	2006	2005	2006	2005	
	(Dollars in	thousands)	(Dollars in thousands)		
Personnel costs	\$ 863,163	\$ 841,051	\$ 2,632,935	\$ 2,396,243	
Other operating expenses	610,732	442,001	1,706,137	1,282,250	
Agent commissions	538,700	590,876	1,537,489	1,558,547	
Depreciation and amortization	142,170	95,619	404,770	298,178	
Provision for claim losses	118,643	135,354	357,210	333,320	
Interest expense	65,931	48,466	183,536	120,001	
Total expenses	\$ 2,339,339	\$ 2,153,367	\$6,822,077	\$ 5,988,539	

Our operating expenses consist primarily of personnel costs and other operating expenses, which in our title insurance business are incurred as orders are received and processed, and agent commissions, which are incurred as revenue is recognized. Title insurance premiums, escrow and other title related fees are generally recognized as income at the time the underlying transaction closes. As a result, direct title operations revenue lags approximately 45-60 days behind expenses and therefore gross margins may fluctuate. The changes in the market environment, mix of business between direct and agency operations and the contributions from our various business units have impacted margins and net earnings. We have implemented programs and have taken necessary actions to maintain expense levels consistent with revenue streams. However, a short time lag exists in reducing variable costs and certain fixed costs are incurred regardless of revenue levels.

Personnel costs include base salaries, commissions, benefits, stock-based compensation and bonuses paid to employees, and are one of our most significant operating expenses. Personnel costs totaled \$863.2 million and \$841.1 million for the third quarters of 2006 and 2005, respectively, and \$2,632.9 million and \$2,396.2 million for the first nine months of 2006 and 2005, respectively. Personnel costs, as a percentage of total revenue (excluding the \$318.2 million gain in 2005 on issuance of subsidiary stock), were 32.8% and 33.3% in the third quarters of 2006 and 2005, respectively, and 34.5% and 33.1% for the first nine months of 2006 and 2005, respectively. The increase of \$22.1 million in the third quarter is primarily due to an increase of \$98.9 million in personnel costs at FIS primarily resulting from the merger with Certegy, offset by a decrease at FNT of \$75.3 million. The increase of \$236.7 million in the nine month periods is primarily a result of the Certegy merger and includes a \$24.5 million stock-based compensation charge in the first quarter relating to performance based options at FIS for which the vesting criteria was met during the quarter, offset by an FNT decrease of \$61.2 million or 4.3% primarily due to the decline in direct title premiums and escrow and other fees and a corresponding decrease in personnel costs relating thereto, partially offset by an increase in compensation costs resulting from increased competition for personnel in the western part of the country driving increases in compensation in certain geographic regions. On a consolidated basis, total stock-based

compensation costs were \$11.1 million and \$7.8 million for the three months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively and \$56.8 million and \$24.9 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively. Excluding the \$24.1 million charge mentioned above, stock based compensation costs for the nine month periods were more comparable at \$32.7 million to \$24.9 million, respectively. The Company adopted SFAS 123 in 2003 and none of the additional expense relates to the adoption of SFAS 123R in the period as all options that were not accounted for under the fair value method were fully vested as of December 31, 2005.

31

Table of Contents

Other operating expenses consist primarily of facilities expenses, title plant maintenance, premium taxes (which insurance underwriters are required to pay on title premiums in lieu of franchise and other state taxes), postage and courier services, computer services, professional services, advertising expenses, general insurance, depreciation, amortization of other intangibles and trade and notes receivable allowances. Other operating expenses totaled \$610.7 million and \$442.0 million for the three months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively, and \$1,706.1 million and \$1,282.2 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively. The increases of \$168.7 million or 38.2% in the third quarter and \$423.9 million or 33.1% in the nine month period primarily relate to increases at FIS relating to the Certegy merger.

Agent commissions represent the portion of premiums retained by agents pursuant to the terms of their respective agency contracts. Agent commissions and the resulting percentage of agent premiums we retain vary according to regional differences in real estate closing practices and state regulations.

The following table illustrates the relationship of agent premiums and agent commissions:

	Three months ended September 30,				Nine months ended September 30,				
	2006	%	2005	%	2006	%	2005	%	
	(I	Dollars in t	housands)		(Dollars in thousands)				
Agent premiums Agent	\$ 701,533	100.0%	\$ 763,242	100.0%	\$ 1,998,117	100.0%	\$ 2,024,188	100.0%	
commissions	538,700	76.8%	590,876	77.4%	1,537,489	76.9%	1,558,547	77.0%	
Net	\$ 162,833	23.2%	\$ 172,366	22.6%	\$ 460,628	23.1%	\$ 465,641	23.0%	

Net margin from agency title insurance premiums as a percentage of total agency premiums increased in the third quarter and first nine months of 2006 compared with the same periods in 2005 due to differences in the percentages of premiums retained by agents as commissions across different geographic regions.

Depreciation and amortization was \$142.2 million and \$95.6 million in the third quarters of 2006 and 2005, respectively, and \$404.8 million and \$298.2 million in the first nine months of 2006 and 2005, respectively. The increases in depreciation and amortization of \$46.6 million in the third quarter and \$106.6 million in the nine month period were primarily due to increased amortization of intangible assets and software acquired in 2006 and 2005, including the eight months since the Certegy merger.

The provision for claim losses includes an estimate of anticipated title and title related claims, escrow losses and homeowner s claims relating to our specialty insurance segment. The estimate of anticipated title and title related claims is accrued as a percentage of title premium revenue based on our historical loss experience and other relevant factors. We monitor our claims loss experience on a continual basis and adjust the provision for claim losses accordingly as new information becomes known, new loss patterns emerge, or as other contributing factors are considered and incorporated into the analysis of the reserve for claim losses. The claim loss provision for title insurance was \$88.9 million and \$103.4 million in the third quarters of 2006 and 2005, respectively, and \$260.4 million and \$254.3 million in the first nine months of 2006 and 2005, respectively. Our claim loss provision as a percentage of total title premiums was 7.5% in the 2006 periods and 7.4% and 6.8% for the three month and nine month periods ended September 30, 2005. The claim loss provision for our specialty insurance businesses was \$29.7 million and \$31.9 million in the third quarters of 2006 and 2005, respectively, and \$96.6 million and \$78.8 million in the first nine months of 2006 and 2005, respectively, with the increase for the nine month period resulting from the increase in volume of business in the homeowners and home warranty lines.

Interest expense was \$65.9 million and \$48.5 million in the third quarters of 2006 and 2005, respectively, and \$183.5 million and \$120.0 million in the first nine months of 2006 and 2005, respectively. The increases of \$17.4 million in the third quarter and \$63.5 million in the nine month period are the result of increases in interest rates and average borrowings as compared to the prior year.

Income tax expense as a percentage of earnings before income taxes excluding the 2005 gain on the issuance of subsidiary stock, for which no taxes were provided, was 37.2% and 38.5% for the third quarters of 2006 and 2005,

respectively, and 37.2% and 38.4% for the first nine months of 2006 and 2005, respectively. No income taxes were provided for the 2005 gain on the issuance of subsidiary stock as the Company s tax basis in its investment in FIS exceeded the book basis on the date of the sale. Income tax expense as a percentage of earnings before income taxes

32

Table of Contents

is attributable to our estimate of ultimate income tax liability, and changes in the characteristics of net earnings year to year.

Minority interest was \$58.0 million and \$15.9 million for the third quarters of 2006 and 2005, respectively, and \$143.4 million and \$39.1 million for the first nine months of 2006 and 2005, respectively. The increases in minority interest expense are attributable to earnings generated by FIS, for which as of February 1, 2006, our ownership was reduced from 75% to 51% and FNT, of which, as of October 2005, our ownership was reduced from 100% to 82.5%.

Net earnings were \$127.6 million and \$214.4 million for the third quarters of 2006 and 2005, respectively and \$366.6 million and \$848.9 million (\$530.7 million excluding the \$318.2 million gain on sale of subsidiary stock) for the first nine months of 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Segment Results of Operations

Fidelity National Title Group, Inc.

Results of Operations

		nths ended aber 30,	Nine months ended September 30,		
	2006	2005	2006	2005	
		(Unau	udited)		
REVENUE:					
Direct title insurance premiums	\$ 461,340	\$ 626,178	\$ 1,413,641	\$ 1,643,574	
Agency title insurance premiums	721,801	779,117	2,058,935	2,083,317	
Escrow and other title related fees	269,188	324,910	810,845	868,375	
Interest and investment income	41,261	28,994	115,680	71,149	
Realized gains and losses, net	1,478	3,583	22,091	25,505	
Other income	11,964	11,461	34,393	31,481	
Total revenue	1,507,032	1,774,243	4,455,585	4,723,401	
EXPENSES:					
Personnel costs	436,064	511,325	1,354,720	1,415,928	
Other operating expenses	223,359	246,109	666,587	693,927	
Agent commissions	555,010	612,139	1,587,547	1,617,260	
Depreciation and amortization	29,881	23,818	83,312	73,207	
Provision for claim losses	88,706	103,612	260,444	254,289	
Interest expense	12,762	4,669	36,462	5,393	
Total expenses	1,345,782	1,501,672	3,989,072	4,060,004	
Earnings before income taxes and minority					
interest	161,250	272,571	466,513	663,397	
Income tax expense	57,241	102,137	165,610	248,774	
Earnings before minority interest	104,009	170,434	300,903	414,623	
Minority interest	610	700	1,889	1,992	
Net earnings	\$ 103,399	\$ 169,734	\$ 299,014	\$ 412,631	

Total revenues decreased \$267.2 million or 15.1% for the third quarter of 2006 to \$1,507.0 million and decreased \$267.8 million or 5.7% for the first nine months of 2006 to \$4,455.6 million.

33

Table of Contents

Total title insurance premiums for the three-month and nine-month periods were as follows:

		Three months ended September 30,			30,	Nine months ended September 30,				
		2006	%		2005	%	2006	%	2005	%
					$(\Gamma$	Oollars in t	housands)			
Title premiums from direct operations Title premiums from agency	\$	461,340	39.0%	\$	626,178	44.6%	\$ 1,413,641	40.7%	1,643,574	44.1%
operations		721,801	61.0%		779,117	55.4%	2,058,935	59.3%	2,083,317	55.9%
Total	\$1	,183,141	100.0%	\$ 1	1,405,295	100.0%	\$3,472,576	100.0%	\$3,726,891	100.0%

Title insurance premiums decreased 15.8% to \$1,183.1 million in the third quarter of 2006 as compared with the third quarter of 2005. The decrease was made up of a \$164.8 million, or 26.3%, decrease in direct premiums and a \$57.3 million, or 7.4%, decrease in premiums from agency operations. Title insurance premiums decreased 6.8% to \$3,472.6 million in the first nine months of 2006 as compared with the first nine months of 2005. The decrease was made up of a \$229.9 million, or 14.0%, decrease in direct premiums and a \$24.4 million, or 1.2%, decrease in premiums from agency operations.

The decreased level of direct title premiums in the third quarter is the result of a 27.0% decrease in closed order volume and was partially offset by a 4.9% increase in fee per file, reflecting a declining refinance market and a slowing purchase market. Closed order volumes decreased to 440,200 in the third quarter of 2006 compared to 602,900 in the third quarter of 2005 and to 1,350,300 in the first nine months of 2006 compared to 1,651,800 in the first nine months of 2005. The average fee per file in our direct operations was \$1,582 in the third quarter of 2006 compared to \$1,508 in the third quarter of 2005 and \$1,571 in the first nine months of 2006 compared to \$1,469 in the first nine months of 2005, reflecting a strong commercial market, the decrease in refinance activity, and continued appreciation in home prices. The fee per file tends to increase as mortgage interest rates rise, and the mix of business changes from a predominantly refinance-driven market to more of a resale-driven market because resale transactions generally involve the issuance of both a lender s policy and an owner s policy whereas refinance transactions typically only require a lender s policy.

We are using accrual basis accounting to record agency premiums in a manner that is consistent with direct premium activity because our agents experience the same market conditions that other direct title insurance companies experience. The changes in agency premiums during the three-month and nine-month periods ended September 30, 2006 as compared to the corresponding 2005 periods were more favorable than the changes in direct premiums due to the fact that title insurance markets are currently stronger in geographic regions where title insurance business is more agency driven. During the third quarter and first nine months of 2006, agency premiums decreased 7.4% and 1.2%, respectively, compared to the corresponding 2005 periods, while direct title premiums decreased 26.3% and 14.0%, respectively, during the same periods. Agency revenues from FIS title agency businesses were \$24.8 million and \$26.8 million in the third quarter of 2006 and 2005, respectively, and \$66.7 million and \$69.7 million in the first nine months of 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Trends in escrow and other title related fees are, to some extent, related to title insurance activity generated by our direct operations. Escrow and other title related fees were \$269.2 million and \$324.9 million for the third quarters of 2006 and 2005, respectively and \$810.8 million and \$868.4 million for the first nine months of 2006 and 2005, respectively. Escrow fees, which are more directly related to our direct operations than our other title related fees, decreased \$52.3 million, or 23.9%, in the third quarter of 2006 compared to the third quarter of 2005, and \$76.8 million, or 13.1%, in the first nine months of 2006 compared to the first nine months of 2005, consistent with the decrease in direct title premiums. Other title-related fees decreased \$3.5 million, or 3.3%, for the third quarter of 2006

compared to the third quarter of 2005 and increased \$19.2 million, or 6.8%, for the first nine months of 2006 compared to the first nine months of 2005, representing growth in the Canadian real estate market, including growth in our market share and the strength of the Canadian dollar, growth in other operations not directly related to title insurance, and acquisitions, including the acquisition of Service Link in August 2005.

34

Table of Contents

Interest and investment income levels are primarily a function of securities markets, interest rates and the amount of cash available for investment. Interest and investment income in the third quarter of 2006 was \$41.3 million, compared with \$29.0 million in the third quarter of 2005, an increase of \$12.3 million, or 42.3%. Interest and investment income in the first nine months of 2006 was \$115.7 million, compared with \$71.1 million in the first nine months of 2005. The increases are primarily due to increases in interest rates for cash and short-term investments, increases in earnings from the securities lending program, increases in average balances and yield rates for long-term fixed income assets, and, for the nine month periods, a special dividend paid on our holdings of Certegy Inc. common stock in the first quarter of 2006 before its merger with FIS.

Net realized gains for the third quarter of 2006 decreased to \$1.5 million compared to \$3.6 million for the third quarter of 2005, primarily due to a gain on sale of real estate in the 2005 period and capital losses in the 2006 period with no capital losses in the 2005 period, partially offset by higher capital gains and lower impairment charges in the 2006 period. During the third quarter of 2006, the Company recorded an impairment charge on an investment that it considered to be other-than-temporarily impaired, resulting in a charge of \$8.4 million, compared to impairment charges totaling \$13.6 million on two investments in the third quarter of 2005. Net realized gains for the first nine months of 2006 decreased to \$22.1 million from \$25.5 million in the first nine months of 2005, primarily due to lower net realized gains on other assets, including the 2005 sale of real estate mentioned above, partially offset by the lower third quarter impairment charges mentioned above and lower capital losses in 2006.

Our operating expenses consist primarily of personnel costs and other operating expenses, which in our title insurance business are incurred as orders are received and processed, and agent commissions, which are incurred as revenue is recognized. Title insurance premiums, escrow and other title related fees are generally recognized as income at the time the underlying transaction closes. As a result, direct title operations revenue lags approximately 45-60 days behind expenses and therefore gross margins may fluctuate. The changes in the market environment, mix of business between direct and agency operations and the contributions from our various business units have impacted margins and net earnings. We have implemented programs and have taken necessary actions to maintain expense levels consistent with revenue streams. However, a short time lag exists in reducing variable costs and certain fixed costs are incurred regardless of revenue levels.

Personnel costs include base salaries, commissions, benefits, bonuses and stock based compensation paid to employees and are one of our most significant operating expenses. Personnel costs totaled \$436.1 million and \$511.3 million for the third quarters of 2006 and 2005, respectively, and \$1,354.7 million and \$1,415.9 million for the first nine months of 2006 and 2005, respectively. Personnel costs as a percentage of total revenues from direct title premiums and escrow and other fees increased to 59.7% for the third guarter of 2006 from 53.8% for the third guarter of 2005 and to 60.9% for the first nine months of 2006 from 56.4% for the first nine months of 2005. The decrease in personnel costs in dollar terms for the third quarter of 2006 as compared to the third quarter of 2005 is primarily the result of the decreases in direct title premiums and escrow and other fees, partially offset by an increase in compensation costs resulting from increased competition for personnel in the western part of the country. Average employee count decreased to 18,120 in the third quarter of 2006 from 19,949 in the third quarter of 2005, primarily due to the decrease in orders, partially offset by the 2005 acquisition of Service Link. Average annualized personnel cost per employee decreased in the third quarter of 2006 compared to the third quarter of 2005, primarily due to decreases in variable personnel costs such as overtime, commissions and bonuses. The decrease in personnel costs for the first nine months of 2006 as compared to the first nine months of 2005 is primarily the result of decreases in direct title premiums and escrow and other fees as mentioned above, partially offset by increased salary and benefit costs due to competition. Average employee count decreased to 18,677 in the first nine months of 2006 from 19,115 in the first nine months of 2005, primarily due to the decrease in orders, partially offset by the acquisition of Service Link. Average annualized personnel cost per employee decreased in the first nine months of 2006 compared to the first nine months of 2005, primarily due to decreases in variable personnel costs such as overtime, commissions and bonuses, partially offset by increases in fixed personnel costs caused by competition. Stock-based compensation costs were \$3.5 million and \$3.3 million for the third quarters of 2006 and 2005, respectively, and \$10.1 million and \$8.9 million for the first nine months of 2006 and 2005, respectively. None of the additional expense relates to the Company s adoption on January 1, 2006, of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123R, Share Based Payment (SFAS

123R) because all options that were not previously accounted for under the fair value method were fully vested as of December 31, 2005.

35

Table of Contents

Other operating expenses consist primarily of facilities expenses, title plant maintenance, premium taxes (which insurance underwriters are required to pay on title premiums in lieu of franchise and other state taxes), postage and courier services, computer services, professional services, advertising expenses, general insurance and trade and notes receivable allowances. Other operating expenses totaled \$223.4 million and \$246.1 million for the third quarters of 2006 and 2005, respectively, and \$666.6 million and \$699.8 million for the first nine months of 2006 and 2005, respectively. Other operating expenses as a percentage of total revenues from direct title premiums and escrow and other fees were 30.6% and 25.9% for the third quarters of 2006 and 2005, respectively, and 30.0% and 27.6% for the first nine months of 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Agent commissions represent the portion of premiums retained by agents pursuant to the terms of their respective agency contracts. Agent commissions and the resulting percentage of agent premiums we retain vary according to regional differences in real estate closing practices and state regulations.

The following table illustrates the relationship of agent premiums and agent commissions:

	Three	months ended September 30,			Nine n	Nine months ended September 30,				
	2006	%	2005	%	2006	%	2005	%		
		(Dollars in thousands)								
Agent premiums	\$721,801	100.0%	\$779,117	100.0%	\$2,058,935	100.0%	\$2,083,317	100.0%		
Agent commissions	555,010	76.9%	612,139	78.6%	1,587,547	77.1%	1,617,260	77.6%		
Net	\$166,791	23.1%	\$166,978	21.4%	\$ 471,388	22.9%	\$ 466,057	22.4%		

Net margin from agency title insurance premiums as a percentage of total agency premiums increased in the third quarter and first nine months of 2006 compared with the third quarter and nine months of 2005, respectively, due to differences in the percentages of premiums retained by agents as commissions across different geographic regions.

Depreciation and amortization was \$29.9 million in the third quarter of 2006 as compared to \$23.8 million in the third quarter of 2005 and \$83.3 million in the first nine months of 2006 as compared to \$73.2 million in the first nine months of 2005.

The provision for claim losses includes an estimate of anticipated title and title related claims and escrow losses. The estimate of anticipated title and title related claims is accrued as a percentage of title premium revenue based on our historical loss experience and other relevant factors. We monitor our claims loss experience on a continual basis and adjust the provision for claim losses accordingly as new information becomes known, new loss patterns emerge, or as other contributing factors are considered and incorporated into the analysis of the reserve for claim losses. The claim loss provision for title insurance was \$88.7 million in the third quarter of 2006 as compared to \$103.6 million in the third quarter of 2005 and \$260.4 million in the first nine months of 2006 as compared to \$254.3 million in the first nine months of 2005. Our claim loss provision as a percentage of total title premiums was 7.5% in the third quarter and first nine months of 2006 and 7.4% in the third quarter and 6.8 % for the first nine months of 2005.

Interest expense increased to \$12.8 million in the third quarter of 2006 from \$4.7 million in the third quarter of 2005 and to \$36.5 million in the first nine months of 2006 from \$5.4 million in the first nine months of 2005, due to increases in average debt. Average debt increased to approximately \$573.1 million and \$587.1 million in the third quarter and first nine months of 2006, respectively, from approximately \$85.2 million and \$11.7 million in the third quarter and first nine months of 2005, respectively. Increases in average debt during the 2006 periods as compared to the 2005 periods is primarily due to two January 2006 public bond issuances with balances at September 30, 2006 of \$240,841 and \$248,818 and interest payable at 7.3% and 5.25% respectively (collectively the Public Bonds). In January of 2006, FNT issued the Public Bonds in exchange for an equal amount of the outstanding FNF bonds with the same terms. FNT then delivered the FNF bonds to FNF in payment of two intercompany notes payable to FNF. (See Note E to the Condensed Financial Statements.)

Income tax expense as a percentage of earnings before income taxes was 35.5% for the third quarter and first nine months of 2006 and 37.5% for the third quarter and first nine months of 2005. Income tax expense as a

36

Table of Contents

percentage of earnings before income taxes is attributable to our estimate of ultimate income tax liability, and changes in the characteristics of net earnings year to year. The decrease in the 2006 periods as compared to the 2005 periods is due to an increased proportion of tax-exempt interest income in the 2006 periods.

Net earnings were \$103.4 million and \$169.7 million for the third quarters of 2006 and 2005, respectively, and \$299.0 million and \$412.6 million for the first nine months of 2006 and 2005, respectively. *Fidelity National Information Services, Inc.*

	Three Months Ended		Nine Months Ended		
		Septemb	oer 30,	Septen	nber 30,
		2006	2005	2006	2005
	()	Dollars in t	housands)	(Dollars in	thousands)
Revenues	\$1	,080,651	\$698,110	\$3,003,533	\$ 2,058,403
Interest and investment income		361	1,733	3,500	4,826
Realized gains and losses, net		1,292	4,145	3,331	4,580
Total revenue	1	,082,304	703,988	3,010,364	2,067,809
Personnel costs		416,733	317,821	1,245,945	946,442
Other operating expenses		383,120	185,710	1,011,725	561,467
Depreciation and amortization		111,135	70,783	318,304	221,885
Provision for claim loss		240	72	425	284
Interest expense		49,629	37,548	141,930	87,357
Total expenses		960,857	611,934	2,718,329	1,817,435
Earnings before income taxes and minority					
interest		121,447	92,054	292,035	250,374
Income tax expense		42,902	32,245	108,109	93,139
Minority interest expense		(35)	1,917	(41)	6,171
Net earnings	\$	78,580	\$ 57,892	\$ 183,967	\$ 151,064

Revenues

Revenues at FIS were \$1,082.3 million and \$704.0 million in the third quarters of 2006 and 2005, respectively. The \$382.5 million increase in revenues in 2006 compared with the 2005 period includes recording revenues from Certegy following the 2006 merger, which contributed \$290.3 million of the increase. Certegy s revenues come primarily from its credit card processing business and check services businesses. Revenues at FIS were \$3,010.4 million and \$2,067.8 million in the nine months periods of 2006 and 2005, respectively with the increase primarily made up of \$761.9 million in revenue from Certegy since the February 1, 2006 acquisition date with increases in FIS s integrated financial solutions business and lender processing services making up the rest of the increase. *Expenses*

Personnel costs were \$416.7 million and \$317.8 million in the third quarters of 2006 and 2005, respectively. The increase in the 2006 quarter as compared to the prior year quarter is consistent with the increase in revenue relating to the 2006 merger with Certegy. As a percentage of revenues, personnel costs were 38.5% and 45.1% in the third quarters of 2006 and 2005, respectively. Personnel costs were \$1,245.9 million and \$946.4 million in the nine month periods of 2006 and 2005, respectively. The increase for the nine month period was also attributable to the 2006 merger with Certegy and the inclusion of a \$24.5 million expense relating to the performance based options granted at FIS in March 2005 for which the performance criteria were met during the first quarter of 2006. As a percentage of revenues, personnel costs were 41.4% and 45.8% in the nine month periods of 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Other operating expenses were \$383.1 million and \$185.2 million in the third quarters of 2006 and 2005, respectively. The increase of \$197.9 million for the 2006 period as compared with the prior year period was primarily the result of the above mentioned merger with Certegy. Other operating expenses were \$1,011.7 million and \$561.5 million in the nine month periods of 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Depreciation and amortization costs were \$111.1 million and \$71.3 million in the third quarters of 2006 and 2005, respectively. The increase of \$39.8 million relates primarily to the amortization of intangible assets and computer software acquired in the 2006 merger with Certegy which contributed \$27.9 million of the increase. Depreciation and amortization costs were \$318.3 million and \$221.9 million in the nine months periods of 2006 and 2005, respectively.

37

Table of Contents

Interest expense was \$49.6 million in the third quarter of 2006 as compared to \$37.5 million in the third quarter of 2005 related primarily to increased interest rates and increased average borrowings. For the nine month periods of 2006 and 2005, interest expense was \$141.9 million and \$87.4 million, respectively. The increase in average borrowings primarily relates to the inclusion of a full nine months including the \$2.8 billion borrowed in the recapitalization transaction on March 9, 2005 which only impacted 23 days of the first quarter of 2005 and additional debt of approximately \$250 million included since the February 1, 2006 merger with Certegy.

Net earnings were \$78.6 million and \$57.9 million for the third quarter of 2006 and 2005, respectively and \$184.0 million and \$151.0 million for the nine month periods of 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Specialty Insurance Segment

	Three Months Ended September 30,		Nine Months Ended September 30,		
	2006	2005	2006	2005	
	(Dollars in	thousands)	(Dollars in thousands)		
Revenues	\$ 103,636	\$ 97,835	\$ 315,480	\$ 253,808	
Personnel costs	11,409	10,492	33,791	28,044	
Other operating expenses	41,756	39,241	113,364	103,638	
Depreciation and amortization	1,706	963	4,678	2,930	
Provision for claim losses	29,695	31,730	96,646	78,778	
Total expenses	84,566	82,426	248,479	213,390	
Earnings before income taxes and minority interest	\$ 19,070	\$ 15,409	\$ 67,001	\$ 40,418	

Revenues

Revenues from specialty insurance include revenues from the issuance of flood, home warranty and homeowner s insurance policies and were \$103.6 million and \$97.8 million for the third quarters of 2006 and 2005, respectively, and \$315.5 million and \$253.8 million in the first nine months of 2006 and 2005, respectively. Specialty insurance revenue increased in 2006 as compared with 2005 as a result of organic growth in our homeowners insurance and the continued runoff of flood processing revenues relating to the 2005 hurricane season.

Expenses

Personnel costs were \$11.4 million and \$10.5 million in the third quarters of 2006 and 2005, respectively, and \$33.8 million and \$28.0 million in the first nine months of 2006 and 2005, respectively. As a percentage of revenues, personnel costs were 11.0% and 10.7% in the third quarters of 2006 and 2005, respectively, and 10.7% and 11.0% in the first nine months of 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Other operating expenses in the specialty insurance segment were \$41.8 million and \$39.2 million in the third quarters of 2006 and 2005, respectively, and \$113.4 million and \$103.6 million in the first nine months of 2006 and 2005, respectively. As a percentage of revenues, other operating expenses were 40.3% and 40.1% in the third quarters of 2006 and 2005, respectively, and 35.9% and 40.8% for the first nine months of 2006 and 2005, respectively. The decrease as a percentage of revenues in the 2006 period is primarily the result of growth of the business lines, which has not required a proportionate increase in these costs.

The provision for claim loss was \$29.7 million and \$31.7 million in the third quarters of 2006 and 2005, respectively, and \$96.6 million and \$78.8 million in the first nine months of 2006 and 2005, respectively. The increase was primarily the result of increased activity in the homeowner s insurance business.

Corporate and Other Segment

The corporate and other segment is primarily comprised of the operations of our parent holding company and smaller entities not included in our operating subsidiaries. It generated a pretax loss of \$6.3 million and \$5.5 million in the third quarters of 2006 and 2005, respectively. It generated a pretax loss of \$13.5 million in the first nine

Table of Contents

months of 2006 and pretax income of \$288.4 million in the first nine months of 2005 which included the \$318.2 million gain on sale of subsidiary securities in connection with the sale of a minority interest in FIS.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Cash Requirements. Our cash requirements include debt service, operating expenses, taxes, capital expenditures, systems development, treasury stock repurchases, business acquisitions and dividends on our common stock. We believe that all anticipated cash requirements for current operations will be met from internally generated funds, through cash dividends from subsidiaries, cash generated by investment securities and borrowings through public debt offerings and existing credit facilities. Our short-term and long-term liquidity requirements are monitored regularly to match cash inflows with cash requirements. We forecast the needs of all of our subsidiaries and periodically review their short-term and long-term projected sources and uses of funds, as well as the asset, liability, investment and cash flow assumptions underlying such forecasts.

We have \$500.0 million of capacity under a shelf registration statement that may be used, subject to market conditions, to issue debt or other securities at our discretion. We presently intend to use the proceeds from the sale of any securities under the shelf registration statement primarily to finance strategic opportunities. While we seek to give ourselves flexibility with respect to meeting such needs, there can be no assurance that market conditions would permit us to sell such securities on acceptable terms at any given time, or at all.

Our two significant sources of internally generated funds are dividends and other payments from our subsidiaries. As a holding company, we receive cash from our subsidiaries in the form of dividends and as reimbursement for operating and other administrative expenses we incur. The reimbursements are executed within the guidelines of management agreements among us and our subsidiaries. Our insurance subsidiaries are restricted by state regulation in their ability to pay dividends and make distributions. Each state of domicile regulates the extent to which our title underwriters can pay dividends or make other distributions to FNT. As of December 31, 2005, \$1.9 billion of FNT s net assets were restricted from dividend payments without prior approval from the Departments of Insurance. During the remainder of 2006, FNT s first tier title subsidiaries can pay or make distributions to FNT of approximately \$145 million without prior approval. During the first nine months of 2006, FNT paid us \$124.6 million in dividends. Our underwritten title companies and FIS collect revenue and pay operating expenses. However, they are not regulated to the same extent as our insurance subsidiaries. Positive cash flow from these subsidiaries is invested primarily in cash and cash equivalents. Also, the new FIS credit facility (discussed below) limits FIS s ability to pay us dividends.

In connection with the distribution of FNT stock, FNT issued two \$250 million intercompany notes payable to FNF (the Mirror Notes), with terms that mirrored FNF s existing \$250 million 7.30% public debentures due in August 2011 and \$250 million 5.25% public debentures due in March 2013. Following issuance of the Mirror Notes, FNT filed a Registration Statement on Form S-4, pursuant to which FNT offered to exchange the outstanding FNF notes for notes FNT would issue having substantially the same terms and deliver the FNF notes received to FNF to reduce FNT s debt under the Mirror Notes. On January 18, 2006 FNT completed these exchange offers with \$241.3 million aggregate principal amount of the 7.30% notes due 2011 and the entire \$250.0 million aggregate principal amount of the 5.25% notes due 2013 validly tendered and not withdrawn in the exchange offers. Following the completion of the exchange offers, FNT issued a new 7.30% Mirror Note due 2011 in the amount of \$8.7 million, representing the principal amount of the portion of the original Mirror Notes that was not exchanged. A balance of \$6.6 million of these notes remained outstanding at September 30, 2006, all of which was redeemed on October 23, 2006. Interest on the Mirror Notes accrued from the last date on which interest on the corresponding FNF notes was paid and at the same rate.

Capital Expenditures. Total capital expenditures for property and equipment were \$128.9 million and \$112.5 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively. Total capital expenditures for software were \$176.9 million and \$119.7 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively. In 2004, FIS began the development work to implement changes required to keep pace with the marketplace and the requirements of its customers. FIS expects to spend an incremental \$16 million in 2006 on the development of its mortgage servicing platform. With respect to the core banking software, FIS expects to spend approximately \$54 million in 2006 on development, enhancements and integration projects. FIS expects to capitalize a portion of those expenditures.

Table of Contents

Financing. On October 17, 2005, we entered into a new Credit Agreement, dated as of October 17, 2005, with Bank of America, N.A. as Administrative Agent and Swing Line Lender, and the other financial institutions party thereto. This credit agreement replaced our prior \$700.0 million, 5-year revolving credit facility which was due November 4, 2008. This Credit Agreement was terminated on October 24, 2006.

The Credit Agreement provides for a \$250 million unsecured revolving credit facility maturing on the fifth anniversary of the closing date. Amounts under the revolving credit facility may be borrowed, repaid and reborrowed by the Borrowers from time to time until the maturity of the revolving credit facility. Voluntary prepayment of the revolving credit facility under the Credit Agreement is permitted at any time without fee upon proper notice and subject to a minimum dollar requirement. Revolving loans under the credit facility bear interest at a variable rate based on either (i) the higher of (a) a rate per annum equal to one-half of one percent in excess of the Federal Reserve s Federal Funds rate, or (b) Bank of America s prime rate or (ii) a rate per annum equal to the British Bankers Association LIBOR rate plus a margin of between 0.625%-2.25%, all-in including commitment fees, depending on the Company s then current public debt credit rating from the rating agencies.

The Credit Agreement contains certain affirmative and negative covenants customary for financings of this type, including, among other things, limits on the creation of liens and on sales of assets and the incurrence of indebtedness, restrictions on investments and limitations on restricted payments and transactions with affiliates. The Credit Agreement also contains customary financial covenants regarding net worth, fixed charge coverage, total debt to total capitalization and a minimum unencumbered cash balance. The Credit Agreement includes customary events of default for facilities of this type (with customary grace periods, as applicable) and provides that, upon the occurrence of an event of default, the interest rate on all outstanding obligations will be increased and payments of all outstanding loans may be accelerated and/or the lenders commitments may be terminated. In addition, upon the occurrence of certain insolvency or bankruptcy related events of default, all amounts payable under the Credit Agreement shall automatically become immediately due and payable, and the lenders commitments will automatically terminate. The Credit Agreement also requires a pledge of subsidiary stock if our ratings decline to certain below investment grade credit ratings.

Also on October 17, 2005, FNT entered into a Credit Agreement, dated as of October 17, 2005, with Bank of America, N.A. as Administrative Agent and Swing Line Lender, and the other financial institutions party thereto (the FNT Previous Credit Agreement).

The FNT Previous Credit Agreement provided for a \$400 million unsecured revolving credit facility maturing on the fifth anniversary of the closing date. Amounts under the revolving credit facility could be borrowed, repaid and reborrowed by the borrower from time to time until the maturity of the revolving credit facility. Voluntary prepayment of the revolving credit facility under the FNT Previous Credit Agreement was permitted at any time without fee upon proper notice and subject to a minimum dollar requirement. Revolving loans under the credit facility bore interest at a variable rate based on either (i) the higher of (a) a rate per annum equal to one-half of one percent in excess of the Federal Reserve s Federal Funds rate, or (b) Bank of America s prime rate or (ii) a rate per annum equal to the British Bankers Association LIBOR rate plus a margin of between 0.35%-1.25%, depending on FNT s then current public debt credit rating from the rating agencies. On October 24, 2005, FNT borrowed \$150 million under its \$400 million credit facility in order to repay a \$150 million intercompany note issued by one of FNT s subsidiaries to the Company in August 2005. Prior to December 31, 2005, \$50 million of this borrowing was repaid. As of September 30, 2006, \$75 million of this line remains outstanding at a current rate of 5.72%. The FNT Previous Credit Agreement was repaid and terminated on October 24, 2006.

The FNT Previous Credit Agreement contained affirmative, negative and financial covenants customary for financings of this type, including, among other things, limits on the creation of liens, sales of assets and the incurrence of indebtedness, restrictions on investments, and limitations on restricted payments and transactions with affiliates and certain amendments. The FNT Previous Credit Agreement required FNT to maintain investment grade debt ratings, certain financial ratios related to liquidity and statutory surplus and certain levels of capitalization.

Effective October 24, 2006, FNT entered into a credit agreement (the FNT New Credit Agreement) with Bank of America, N.A. as Administrative Agent and Swing Line Lender, and the other financial institutions party thereto. The FNT New Credit Agreement, which replaces the FNT Previous Credit Agreement, provides for an \$800

Table of Contents

million unsecured revolving credit facility maturing on the fifth anniversary of the closing date. FNT has the option to increase the size of the credit facility by an additional \$300 million, subject to certain requirements. Amounts under the revolving credit facility may be borrowed, repaid and reborrowed by the borrower thereunder from time to time until the maturity of the revolving credit facility. Voluntary prepayment of the revolving credit facility under the FNT New Credit Agreement is permitted at any time without fee upon proper notice and subject to a minimum dollar requirement. Revolving loans under the credit facility bear interest at a variable rate based on either (i) the higher of (a) a rate per annum equal to one-half of one percent in excess of the Federal Reserve s Federal Funds rate, or (b) Bank of America s prime rate or (ii) a rate per annum equal to the British Bankers Association London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR) rate plus a margin of between .23%-.675%, depending on FNT s then current senior unsecured long-term debt rating from the rating agencies. In addition, FNT will pay a commitment fee between .07%-.175% on the entire facility, also depending on FNT s senior unsecured long-term debt rating.

The FNT New Credit Agreement contains affirmative, negative and financial covenants customary for financings of this type, including, among other things, limits on the creation of liens, sales of assets, the incurrence of indebtedness, restricted payments, transactions with affiliates, and certain amendments. The FNT New Credit Agreement requires FNT to maintain certain financial ratios and levels of capitalization. The FNT New Credit Agreement also includes customary events of default for facilities of this type (with customary grace periods, as applicable) and provides that, upon the occurrence of an event of default, the interest rate on all outstanding obligations will be increased and payments of all outstanding loans may be accelerated and/or the lenders commitments may be terminated. In addition, upon the occurrence of certain insolvency or bankruptcy related events of default, all amounts payable under the FNT New Credit Agreement shall automatically become immediately due and payable, and the lenders commitments will automatically terminate.

On March 9, 2005, we completed a recapitalization plan of FIS. FIS entered into \$3.2 billion in senior credit facilities consisting of a \$800.0 million Term Loan A facility, a \$2.0 billion Term Loan B facility (collectively, the Term Loan Facilities) and a \$400.0 million revolving credit facility (Revolver) with a consortium of lenders led by Bank of America. FIS fully drew upon the entire \$2.8 billion in Term Loan Facilities to consummate the recapitalization. FIS used proceeds from the loans to repay the outstanding principal and interest on a \$2.7 billion note it previously paid as a dividend to us. We in turn used these funds to pay \$1.8 billion as a special cash dividend of \$10.00 per share to our shareholders and \$400 million to pay down our existing credit facility. The remainder was used for general corporate purposes. Revolving credit borrowings and Term A Loans bear interest at a floating rate, which, at the borrowers option, is based on either the British Bankers Association LIBOR or base rate plus, in both cases, an applicable margin, which is subject to adjustment based on the senior secured leverage ratio of the borrowers. The Term B Loans bear interest at either the British Bankers Association LIBOR plus 1.75% per annum or, at the borrowers option, a base rate plus 0.75% per annum. The borrowers may choose one month, two month, three month, six month, and to the extent available, nine month or one year LIBOR, which then applies for a period of that duration. Interest is due at the end of each interest period, provided that for LIBOR loans that exceed three months, the interest is due three months after the beginning of such interest period. The Term Loan A matures in March 2011, the Term Loan B in March 2013, and the Revolver in March 2011. The Term Loan Facilities are subject to quarterly amortization of principal in equal installments of 0.25% of the original principal amount with the remaining balance payable at maturity. In addition to the scheduled amortization, and with certain exceptions, the Term Loan Facilities are subject to mandatory prepayment from excess cash flow which is reduced based on senior-secured leverage, issuance of additional equity and debt and sales of certain assets. Voluntary prepayments of both the Term Loan Facilities and revolving loans and commitment reductions of the revolving credit facility are permitted at any time without fee upon proper notice and subject to minimum dollar requirements. As of September 30, 2006, there was \$788 million outstanding on Term Loan A at 6.58%, \$1,730.0 million on Term Loan B at 7.08% and \$114.2 million outstanding relating to the revolving line of credit at 6.755%.

The new credit facilities contain affirmative, negative, and financial covenants customary for financings of this type, including, among other things, limits on the creation of liens, limits on the incurrence of indebtedness, restrictions on investments and dispositions, limitations on dividends and other restricted payments and capital expenditures, a minimum interest coverage ratio, and a maximum secured leverage ratio.

On March 9, 2005, FIS used proceeds from the Term Loans to repay all outstanding principal and interest on a \$2.7 billion principal amount promissory note that it distributed to FNF as a dividend on March 8, 2005. On March 9, 2005, FIS also completed its minority interest sale, in which it issued common shares representing a 25% interest

41

Table of Contents

in FIS to an investor group for \$500 million. FIS used the proceeds of that issuance and the remaining Term Loan proceeds to retire its former revolving credit facility, as described below, and pay expenses relating to the recapitalization and the minority interest sale. These expenses totaled \$79.2 million, and included certain fees and expenses of the investor group totaling approximately \$45.7 million. The remaining proceeds from the Term Loans and minority interest sale were retained to use for general corporate purposes.

FIS is highly leveraged. As of September 30, 2006, it was paying interest on the Term Loan Facilities at a rate of one month LIBOR plus 1.25 to 1.75%, (or 6.58-7.08%). At that rate, the annual interest on the remaining \$1,818 million of Term Loan debt not subject to an interest rate swap agreement as noted below would be \$124.8 million. A one percent increase in the LIBOR rate would increase its annual debt service on the Term Loan Facilities by \$18.2 million. The credit rating assigned to the Term Loan Facilities and Revolver by Standard & Poor s is currently BB+.

On April 11, 2005, FIS entered into interest rate swap agreements which have effectively fixed the interest rate at approximately 6.1% through April 2008 on \$350 million of the Term Loan B Facility and at approximately 5.9% through April 2007 on an additional \$350.0 million of the Term Loan B Facility. The estimated fair value of the cash flow hedges results in an asset of the Company of \$6.0 million as of September 30, 2006, which is included in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet in prepaid expenses and other assets and as a component of accumulated other comprehensive earnings, net of deferred taxes.

As described above, on February 1, 2006 FIS merged with Certegy in a transaction in which Certegy was the surviving legal entity. We own 51.0% of the common stock of the merged entity as of September 30, 2006. FIS now currently pays quarterly dividends to its shareholders of \$0.05 per share and is expected to continue to do so in the future. Upon completion of the merger, FIS s credit facilities were amended to limit the amount of dividends the combined company can pay on its common stock to \$60 million per year, plus certain other amounts, except that dividends on the common stock may not be paid if any event of default under the facilities shall have occurred or be continuing or would result from such payment.

Through the merger with Certegy, the Company has an obligation to service \$200 million (aggregate principal amount) of unsecured 4.75% fixed-rate notes due in 2008. The notes were recorded in purchase accounting at a discount of \$5.7 million, which is being amortized over the term of the notes. The notes accrue interest at a rate of 4.75% per year, payable semi-annually in arrears on each March 15 and September 15.

During the second quarter of 2005, we began lending fixed maturity and equity securities to financial institutions in short-term security lending transactions. Our security lending policy requires that the cash received as collateral be 102% or more of the fair value of the loaned securities. These short-term security lending arrangements increase investment income with minimal risk. At September 30, 2006, we had security loans outstanding with a fair value of \$305.6 million included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities and we held cash in the same amount as collateral for the loaned securities.

Seasonality. Historically, real estate transactions have produced seasonal revenue levels for title insurers. The first calendar quarter is typically the weakest quarter in terms of revenue due to the generally low volume of home sales during January and February. Recently, the third calendar quarter has been typically the strongest in terms of revenue primarily due to a higher volume of home sales in the summer months and the fourth calendar quarter is usually also strong due to commercial entities desiring to complete transactions by year-end. Significant changes in interest rates may alter these traditional seasonal patterns due to the effect the cost of financing has on the volume of real estate transactions.

Contractual Obligations. Due to the closing of the SEDA and merger transactions subsequent to quarter end, all contractual obligations of FNF became contractual obligations of FNT and are reported in FNT s Form 10-Q filed for the quarter ended September 30, 2006.

Capital Stock Transactions. On April 24, 2002, our Board of Directors approved a three-year stock repurchase program. Purchases are made by us from time to time in the open market, in block purchases or in privately negotiated transactions. From January 1, 2004, through December 31, 2004, we repurchased a total of 430,500 shares of common stock for \$16.5 million. Additionally, on December 13, 2004, we entered into an agreement to repurchase 2,530,346 shares of Company common stock from Willis Stein & Partners (Willis Stein) and J.P.

Table of Contents

Morgan Chase, as escrow agent for the former stockholder of Aurum. We acquired Aurum in March 2004. The \$112.2 million purchase price was a discount to the closing price of the Company s common stock on December 13, 2004. On April 6, 2005, we acquired 2,250,000 shares at a purchase price of \$70.9 million from ALLTEL. On April 25, 2005, our Board of Directors approved another three-year stock repurchase program similar to the 2002 plan. This plan authorizes us to repurchase up to 10 million shares.

Equity Investments. Our equity investments are in public companies whose security prices are subject to significant volatility. Should the fair value of these investments fall below our cost bases and/or the financial condition or prospects of these companies deteriorate, we may determine in a future period that this decline in fair value is other-than-temporary, requiring that an impairment loss be recognized in the period such a determination is made.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements. Other than facility and equipment leasing arrangements, we do not engage in off-balance sheet financing activities. On June 29, 2004 we entered into an off-balance sheet financing arrangement (commonly referred to as a synthetic lease). The owner/lessor in this arrangement acquired land and various real property improvements associated with new construction of an office building in Jacksonville, Florida that will be part of our corporate campus and headquarters. The lease expires on June 28, 2011, with renewal subject to consent of the lessor and the lenders. The lessor is a third-party limited liability company. The synthetic lease facility provides for amounts up to \$75.0 million. As of September 30, 2006, the full \$75.0 million had been drawn on the facility to finance land costs and related fees and expenses. The leases include guarantees by us of up to 86.7% of the outstanding lease balance, and options to purchase the facilities at the outstanding lease balance. The guarantee becomes effective if we decline to purchase the facilities at the end of the lease and also decline to renew the lease. The lessor financed the acquisition of the facilities through funding provided by third-party financial institutions. We have no affiliation or relationship with the lessor or any of its employees, directors or affiliates, and our transactions with the lessor are limited to the operating lease agreements and the associated rent expense that will be included in other operating expenses in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings after the end of the construction period.

We do not believe the lessor is a variable interest entity, as defined in FASB Interpretation No. 46R, Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities (FIN 46). In addition, we have verified that even if the lessor was determined to be a variable interest entity, we would not be required to consolidate the lessor or the assets and liabilities associated with the assets leased to us. This is because the assets leased by us will not exceed 50% of the total fair value of the lessor s assets excluding certain assets that should be excluded from such calculation under FIN 46, nor did the lessor finance 95% or more of the leased balance with non-recourse debt, target equity or similar funding.

In conducting our operations, we routinely hold customers—assets in escrow, pending completion of real estate transactions. Certain of these amounts are maintained in segregated bank accounts and have not been included in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. As a result of holding these customers—assets in escrow, we have ongoing programs for realizing economic benefits during the year through favorable borrowing and vendor arrangements with various banks. There were no investments or loans outstanding as of September 30, 2006 related to these arrangements.

Critical Accounting Policies

There have been no material changes in our critical accounting policies described in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In September 2006, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 158, Employers Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Post Retirement Plans (SFAS 158). SFAS 158 requires entities to recognize on their balance sheets the funded status of pension and other postretirement benefit plans. Entities are required to recognize actuarial gains and losses, prior service cost, and any remaining transition amounts from the initial application of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 87, Employers Accounting for Pensions, and Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 106, Employers Accounting for Postretirement Benefits Other Than Pensions, when recognizing a plan s funded status, with the offset to

Table of Contents

accumulated other comprehensive income. SFAS 158 will not change the amounts recognized in the income statement as net periodic benefit cost. All of the requirements of SFAS 158 are effective as of December 31, 2006 for calendar-year public companies, except for a requirement for fiscal-year-end measurements of plan assets and benefit obligations with which the Company is already in compliance. Management is currently evaluating the impact on the Company s statements of financial position and operations.

In September 2006, the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 108 (Topic 1N), Considering the Effects of Prior Year Misstatements when Quantifying Misstatements in Current Year Financial Statements (SAB 108). This SAB addresses how the effects of prior-year uncorrected misstatements should be considered when quantifying misstatements in current-year financial statements. SAB 108 requires registrants to quantify misstatements using both the balance sheet and income statement approaches and to evaluate whether either approach results in quantifying an error that is material in light of relevant quantitative and qualitative factors. When the effect of initial adoption is determined to be material, the SAB allows registrants to record that effect as a cumulative effect adjustment to beginning-of-year retained earnings. SAB 108 is effective for annual financial statements covering the first fiscal year ending after November 15, 2006. Management is currently evaluating the impact of SAB 108 on the Company s statements of financial position and operations.

In June 2006, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109 (FIN 48). FIN 48 requires an evaluation to determine the likelihood that an uncertain tax position will be sustained upon examination, including resolution of any related appeals or litigation processes. If it is determined that it is more likely than not that an uncertain tax position will be sustained upon examination, the next step is to determine the amount to be recognized. FIN 48 prescribes recognition of the largest amount of tax benefit that is greater than 50 percent likely of being recognized upon ultimate settlement of an uncertain tax position. Such amounts are to be recognized as of the first financial reporting period during which the more-likely-than-not recognition threshold is met. Similarly, an amount that has previously been recognized will be reversed as of the first financial reporting period during which the more-likely-than-not recognition threshold is not met. FIN 48 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2006. Management is currently evaluating the impact on the Company statements of financial position and operations.

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123R, which requires that compensation cost relating to share-based payments be recognized in our financial statements. During 2003, we adopted the fair value recognition provision of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation (SFAS No. 123), effective as of the beginning of 2003. Using the fair value method of accounting, compensation cost is measured based on the fair value of the award at the grant date and recognized over the service period. Upon adoption of SFAS No. 123, we elected to use the prospective method of transition, as permitted by Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 148, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation Transition and Disclosure (SFAS No. 148). Using this method, stock-based employee compensation cost has been recognized from the beginning of 2003 as if the fair value method of accounting had been used to account for all employee awards granted, modified, or settled in years beginning after December 31, 2002. SFAS No. 123R does not allow for the prospective method, but requires the recording of expense relating to the vesting of all unvested options beginning in the first quarter of 2006. The adoption of SFAS No. 123R on January 1, 2006 had no significant impact on our financial condition or results of operations due to the fact that all options accounted for using the intrinsic value method under Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees, were fully vested at December 31, 2005. In accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 123R, we have not restated our share-based compensation expense for the 2005 periods presented.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure about Market Risk

There have been no material changes in the market risks described in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures

We carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this report. Based on this evaluation, our principal executive

Table of Contents

officer and principal financial officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures are effective to provide reasonable assurance that our disclosure controls and procedures will timely alert them to material information required to be included in our periodic SEC reports.

There have been no changes in our internal controls over financial reporting that occurred during our last fiscal quarter that have materially affected or are reasonably likely to materially affect our internal controls over financial reporting.

Part II: OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings

In the ordinary course of business, the Company is involved in various pending and threatened litigation matters related to its operations, some of which include claims for punitive or exemplary damages. The Company believes that no actions, other than those listed below, depart from customary litigation incidental to its business. As background to the disclosure below, please note the following:

These matters raise difficult and complicated factual and legal issues and are subject to many uncertainties and complexities, including but not limited to the underlying facts of each matter, novel legal issues, variations between jurisdictions in which matters are being litigated, differences in applicable laws and judicial interpretations, the length of time before many of these matters might be resolved by settlement or through litigation and, in some cases, the timing of their resolutions relative to other similar cases brought against other companies, the fact that many of these matters are putative class actions in which a class has not been certified and in which the purported class may not be clearly defined, the fact that many of these matters involve multi-state class actions in which the applicable law for the claims at issue is in dispute and therefore unclear, and the current challenging legal environment faced by large corporations and insurance companies.

In these matters, plaintiffs seek a variety of remedies including equitable relief in the form of injunctive and other remedies and monetary relief in the form of compensatory damages. In most cases, the monetary damages sought include punitive or treble damages. Often more specific information beyond the type of relief sought is not available because plaintiffs have not requested more specific relief in their court pleadings. In general, the dollar amount of damages sought is not specified. In those cases where plaintiffs have made a specific statement with regard to monetary damages, they often specify damages just below a jurisdictional limit regardless of the facts of the case. This represents the maximum they can seek without risking removal from state court to federal court. In our experience, monetary demands in plaintiffs—court pleadings bear little relation to the ultimate loss, if any, we may experience.

For the reasons specified above, it is not possible to make meaningful estimates of the amount or range of loss that could result from these matters at this time. The Company reviews these matters on an on-going basis and follows the provisions of SFAS No. 5, Accounting for Contingencies when making accrual and disclosure decisions. When assessing reasonably possible and probable outcomes, the Company bases its decision on its assessment of the ultimate outcome following all appeals.

In the opinion of the Company s management, while some of these matters may be material to the Company s operating results for any particular period if an unfavorable outcome results, none will have a material adverse effect on its overall financial condition.

Several class actions are pending in Ohio, Pennsylvania, Connecticut, New Hampshire and Florida alleging improper premiums were charged for title insurance. The cases allege that the named defendant companies failed to provide notice of premium discounts to consumers refinancing their mortgages, and failed to give discounts in refinancing transactions in violation of the filed rates. The actions seek refunds of the premiums charged and punitive damages. The Company intends to vigorously defend the actions.

A class action in California alleges that the Company violated the Real Estate Settlement Procedures Act and state law by giving favorable discounts or rates to builders and developers for escrow fees and requiring purchasers to use Chicago Title Insurance Company for escrow services. The action seeks refunds of the premiums charged and

additional damages. The Company intends to vigorously defend this action.

45

Table of Contents

A class action in Texas alleges that the Company overcharged for recording fees in Arizona, California, Colorado, Oklahoma and Texas. The suit seeks to recover the recording fees for the class that was overcharged, interest and attorney s fees. The suit was filed in the United States District Court for the Western District of Texas, San Antonio Division on March 24, 2006. Similar suits are pending in Indiana, Kansas, and Missouri. The Company intends to vigorously defend these actions.

A class action in New Mexico alleges the Company has engaged in anti-competitive price fixing in New Mexico. The suit seeks an injunction against price fixing and writs issued to the State regulators mandating the law be interpreted to provide a competitive market, compensatory damages, punitive damages, statutory damages, interest and attorney s fees for the injured class. The suit was filed in State Court in Santa Fe, New Mexico on April 27, 2006. The Company intends to vigorously defend this action.

Two class actions filed in Illinois allege the Company has paid attorneys to refer business to the Company by paying them for core title services in conjunction with orders when the attorneys, in fact, did not perform any core title services and the payments were to steer business to the Company. The suits seek compensatory damages, attorney s fees and injunctive relief to terminate the practice. The suit was filed in State Court in Chicago, Illinois on May 11, 2006. The Company intends to vigorously defend these actions.

None of the cases described above includes a statement as to the dollar amount of damages demanded. Instead, each of the cases includes a demand in an amount to be proved at trial. One Ohio cases states that the damages per class member are less than the jurisdictional limit for removal to federal court.

The Company receives inquiries and requests for information from state insurance departments, attorneys general and other regulatory agencies from time to time about various matters relating to its business. Sometimes these take the form of civil investigative subpoenas. The Company attempts to cooperate with all such inquiries. From time to time, the Company is assessed fines for violations of regulations or other matters or enters into settlements with such authorities which require the Company to pay money or take other actions.

The National Association of Insurance Commissioners and various state insurance regulators have been investigating so called captive reinsurance agreements since 2004. The investigations have focused on arrangements in which title insurers would write title insurance generated by realtors, developers and lenders and cede a portion of the premiums to a reinsurance company affiliate of the entity that generated the business. The U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) also has made formal or informal inquiries of the Company regarding these matters. The Company has been cooperating and intends to continue to cooperate with all ongoing investigations. The Company has discontinued all captive reinsurance arrangements. The total amount of premiums the Company ceded to reinsurers was approximately \$10 million over the existence of these agreements. The Company has settled most of the accusations of wrongdoing that arose from these investigations by discontinuing the practice and paying fines. Some investigations are continuing. The Company anticipates they will be settled in a similar manner.

Additionally, the Company has received inquiries from regulators about its business involvement with title insurance agencies affiliated with builders, realtors and other traditional sources of title insurance business, some of which the Company participated in forming as joint ventures with its subsidiaries. These inquiries have focused on whether the placement of title insurance with the Company through these affiliated agencies is proper or an improper form of referral payment. Like most other title insurers, the Company participates in these affiliated business arrangements in a number of states. The Company has settled the accusations of wrongdoing that arose from some of these investigations by discontinuing the practice and paying fines. Other investigations are continuing. The Company anticipates they will be settled in a similar manner.

The Company and its subsidiaries have settled all allegations of wrongdoing arising from a wide-ranging review of the title insurance industry by the New York State Attorney General (the NYAG). Under the terms of the settlement, the Company paid a \$2 million fine and will immediately reduce premiums by 15% on owner s policies under \$1 million. Rate hearings will be conducted by the New York State Insurance Department (the NYSID) this year where all rates will be considered industry wide. The settlement clarifies practices considered wrongful under

Table of Contents

New York law by the NYAG and the NYSID, and the Company has agreed not to engage in those practices. The Company will take steps to assure that consumers are aware of the filed rates for premiums on title insurance products and that the products are correctly rated. The settlement also resolves all issues raised by the market conduct investigation of the Company and its subsidiaries by the NYSID except the issues of rating errors found by the NYSID. As part of the settlement, the Company and its subsidiaries denied any wrongdoing. Neither the fines nor the rate reductions are expected to have a material impact on earnings of the Company. The Company cooperated fully with the NYAG and NYSID inquiries into these matters and will continue to cooperate with the NYSID.

In November 2006, the NYAG and NYSID raised an issue with respect to the applicability of the rate reduction to lenders policies. The Company and other defendants dispute this position.

Further, U.S. Representative Oxley, the Chairman of the House Financial Services Committee, recently asked the Government Accountability Office (the GAO) to investigate the title insurance industry. Representative Oxley stated that the Committee is concerned about payments that certain title insurers have made to developers, lenders and real estate agents for referrals of title insurance business. Representative Oxley asked the GAO to examine, among other things, the foregoing relationships and the levels of pricing and competition in the title insurance industry. A congressional hearing was held regarding title insurance practices on April 27, 2006. The Company is unable to predict the outcome of this inquiry or whether it will adversely affect the Company is business or results of operations.

On July 3, 2006, the California Insurance Commissioner (Commissioner) issued a Notice of Proposed Action and Notice of Public Hearing (the Notice) relating to proposed regulations governing rate-making for title insurance (the Proposed Regulations). A hearing on the Proposed Regulations took place on August 30, 2006. If implemented, the Proposed Regulations would result in significant reductions in title insurance rates, which are likely to have a significant negative impact on the company s California revenues. In addition, the Proposed Regulations would give the Commissioner the ability to set maximum allowable title insurance rates on a going-forward basis. It is possible that such maximum rates would be lower than the rates that the Company would otherwise set. In addition, the Florida Office of Insurance Regulation (the OIR) has recently released three studies of the title insurance industry which purport to demonstrate that title insurance rates in Florida are too high and that the Florida title insurance industry is overwhelmingly dominated by five firms, which includes FNT. The studies recommend tying premium rates to loss ratios thereby making the rates a reflection of the actual risks born by the insurer. The OIR is presently developing a rule to govern the upcoming rate analysis and rate setting process and has said that it will use the information to begin a full review of the title insurance rates charged in Florida. New York, Connecticut, Nevada, New Mexico, Texas, and Washington insurance regulators have also announced similar inquiries (or other reviews of title insurance rates or practices) and other states could follow. At this stage, the Company is unable to predict what the outcome will be of these or any similar reviews.

Canadian lawyers who have traditionally played a role in real property transactions in Canada allege that the Company s practices in processing residential mortgages are the unauthorized practice of law. Their Law Societies have demanded an end to the practice, and have begun investigations into those practices. In several provinces bills have been filed that ostensibly would affect the way we do business. The Company is unable to predict the outcome of this inquiry or whether it will adversely affect the Company s business or results of operations. In Missouri a class action is pending alleging that certain acts performed by the Company in closing real estate transactions are the unlawful practice of law. The Company intends to vigorously defend this action.

The Company and its subsidiaries, FIS and Fidelity Information Services, Inc. ($\,$ FI $\,$), together with certain of its employees, were named on March 6, 2006 as defendants in a civil lawsuit brought by Grace & Digital Information Technology Co., Ltd. ($\,$ Grace $\,$), a Chinese company that formerly acted as a sales agent for Alltel Information Services ($\,$ AI $\,$), the predecessor to Fidelity Information Services, in China.

Grace originally filed a lawsuit in December 2004 in state court in Monterey County, California, alleging that FIS breached the sales agency agreement between Grace and AIS by failing to pay Grace commissions on certain contracts in 2001 and 2003. However, the 2001 contracts were never completed and the 2003 contracts, as to which Grace provided no assistance, were for a different project and were executed one and one-half years after FIS terminated the sales agency agreement with Grace. In addition to its breach of contract claim, Grace also alleged that

Table of Contents

FNF violated the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (FCPA) in its dealings with a bank customer in China. FNF denied Grace s allegations in this California lawsuit.

In December 2005, the Monterey County court dismissed the lawsuit on the grounds of inconvenient forum, which decision Grace appealed on February 10, 2006. Further, on March 6, 2006, Grace filed a new lawsuit in the United States District Court for the Middle District of Florida arising from the same transaction, and added an additional allegation to its complaint that FNF violated the Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations Act (RICO) in its dealings with the same bank customer. FNF and its subsidiaries intend to defend this case vigorously. On March 7, 2006, FNF filed its motion to dismiss this lawsuit, and on March 27, 2006, FNF filed an answer denying Grace s underlying allegations and counterclaiming against Grace for tortious interference and abuse of process. These motions have all been fully briefed and are pending before the Court. A pretrial management order has been entered providing for discovery, pretrial motion deadlines, and, if necessary, a trial in the later part of 2007.

FNF and its counsel have investigated these allegations and, based on the results of the investigations, FNF does not believe that there have been any violations of the FCPA or RICO, or that the ultimate disposition of these allegations or the lawsuit will have a material adverse impact on FNF s or any of its subsidiaries—financial position, results of operations or cash flows. FNF and its subsidiaries, including FIS, have fully cooperated with the Securities and Exchange Commission and the U.S. Department of Justice in connection with their inquiry into these allegations. Item 1A. Risk Factors

Our business faces a number of risks. The risks described below update the risk factors described in our 2005 Form 10-K and should be read in conjunction with those risk factors. The risk factors described in this Form 10-Q and the 2005 Form 10-K may not be the only risks we face. Additional risks that we do not yet know of or that we currently think are immaterial may also impair our business operations. If any of the following risks actually occur, our business, results of operations or financial condition could be materially affected and the trading price of our common stock could decline.

If adverse changes in the levels of real estate activity occur, our revenues may decline.

Title insurance revenue is closely related to the level of real estate activity which includes sales, mortgage financing and mortgage refinancing. The levels of real estate activity are primarily affected by the average price of real estate sales, the availability of funds to finance purchases and mortgage interest rates. Both the volume and the average price of residential real estate transactions have recently experienced declines in many parts of the country, and these trends appear likely to continue. Further, interest rates have risen from record low levels in 2003, resulting in reductions in the level of mortgage refinancings and total mortgage originations in 2004 and again in 2005 and 2006.

We have found that residential real estate activity generally decreases in the following situations: when mortgage interest rates are high or increasing;

when the mortgage funding supply is limited; and

when the United States economy is weak.

Declines in the level of real estate activity or the average price of real estate sales are likely to adversely affect our title insurance revenues. The Mortgage Bankers Association currently projects residential mortgage production in 2006 to be \$2.46 trillion, which would represent an 18.7% decline relative to 2005. The MBA further projects that the 18.7% decrease will result from purchase transactions declining from \$1.51 billion in 2005 to \$1.39 billion in 2006, or 8.0%, and refinancing transactions dropping from \$1.51 billion to \$1.07 billion, or 29.3%.

State regulation of the rates we charge for title insurance could adversely affect our results of operations.

Our subsidiaries are subject to extensive rate regulation by the applicable state agencies in the jurisdictions in

48

Table of Contents

which they operate. Title insurance rates are regulated differently in the various states, with some states requiring our subsidiaries to file rates before such rates become effective and some states promulgating the rates that can be charged. In almost all states in which our subsidiaries operate, our rates must not be excessive, inadequate or unfairly discriminatory.

On July 3, 2006, the California Insurance Commissioner (Commissioner) issued a Notice of Proposed Action and Notice of Public Hearing (the Notice) relating to proposed regulations governing rate-making for title insurance (the Proposed Regulations). A hearing on the Proposed Regulations took place on August 30, 2006. If implemented, the Proposed Regulations would result in significant reductions in title insurance rates, which are likely to have a significant negative impact on the company is California revenues. California is the largest source of revenue for the title insurance industry, including for us. In addition, the Proposed Regulations would give the Commissioner the ability to set maximum allowable title insurance rates on a going-forward basis. It is possible that such maximum rates would be lower than the rates that the company would otherwise set. In addition, the Florida Office of Insurance Regulation (the OIR) has recently released three studies of the title insurance industry which purport to demonstrate that title insurance rates in Florida are too high and that the Florida title insurance industry is overwhelmingly dominated by five firms, which includes FNT. The studies recommend tying premium rates to loss ratios thereby making the rates a reflection of the actual risks born by the insurer. The OIR is presently developing a rule to govern the upcoming rate analysis and rate setting process and has said that it will use the information to begin a full review of the title insurance rates charged in Florida.

New York, Connecticut, Nevada, New Mexico, Texas, and Washington insurance regulators have also announced inquiries (or other reviews of title insurance rates or practices) and other states could follow. At this stage, the Company is unable to predict what the outcome will be of this or any similar review.

The Company and its subsidiaries have settled all allegations of wrongdoing arising from a wide-ranging review of the title insurance industry by the New York State Attorney General (the NYAG). Under the terms of the settlement, the Company will pay a \$2 million fine and immediately reduce premiums by 15% on owner s policies under \$1 million. Rate hearings will be conducted by the New York State Insurance Department (the NYSID) this year where all rates will be considered industry wide. The settlement clarifies practices considered wrongful under New York law by the NYAG and the NYSID, and the Company has agreed not to engage in those practices. The Company will take steps to assure that consumers are aware of the filed rates for premiums on title insurance products and that the products are correctly rated. The settlement also resolves all issues raised by the market conduct investigation of the Company and its subsidiaries by the NYSID except the issues of rating errors found by the NYSID. As part of the settlement, the Company and its subsidiaries denied any wrongdoing. Neither the fines nor the 15% rate reduction are expected to have a material impact on earnings of the Company. The Company cooperated fully with the NYAG and NYSID inquiries into these matters and will continue to cooperate with the NYSID.

Further, U.S. Representative Oxley, the Chairman of the House Financial Services Committee, recently asked the Government Accountability Office (the GAO) to investigate the title insurance industry. Representative Oxley stated that the Committee is concerned about payments that certain title insurers have made to developers, lenders and real estate agents for referrals of title insurance business. Representative Oxley asked the GAO to examine, among other things, the foregoing relationships and the levels of pricing and competition in the title insurance industry. A congressional hearing was held regarding title insurance practices on April 27, 2006. We are unable to predict the outcome of this inquiry or whether it will adversely affect our business or results of operations.

If the rating agencies further downgrade our company our results of operations and competitive position in the industry may suffer.

Ratings have always been an important factor in establishing the competitive position of insurance companies. Our insurance companies are rated by Standard & Poor s (S&P), Moody s Corporation (Moody s), Fitch Ratings, Inc. (Fitch), A.M. Best Company (A.M. Best), Demotech, Inc., and LACE Financial Corporation. Ratings reflect the opinion of a rating agency with regard to an insurance company s or insurance holding company s financial strength, operating performance, and ability to meet its obligations to policyholders and are not evaluations directed to investors. In connection with the announcement on April 27, 2006, of the proposed transactions under the SEDA and the subsequent merger of FNF with and into FIS, S&P and A.M. Best revised their

Table of Contents

outlook on our ratings to positive from stable and Moody's and Fitch affirmed financial strength ratings of A3 and A-, respectively. After the completion of the distribution of FNT stock to FNF shareholders on October 24, 2006, Fitch upgraded its financial strength rating to A. Our ratings are subject to continued periodic review by those rating entities and the continued retention of those ratings cannot be assured. If our ratings are reduced from their current levels by those entities, our results of operations could be adversely affected.

Item 6. Exhibits

- (a) Exhibits:
 - 31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
- 31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
- 32.1 Certification by Chief Executive Officer of Periodic Financial Reports pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, 18 U.S.C. Section 1350.
- 32.2 Certification by Chief Financial Officer of Periodic Financial Reports pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, 18 U.S.C. Section 1350.

50

Table of Contents

SIGNATURES

51

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

FIDELITY NATIONAL FINANCIAL, INC. (registrant)

By: /s/ Alan L. Stinson

Alan L. Stinson Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

Date: <u>November 9, 2006</u>

Table of Contents

Exhibit No.	Description
31.1	Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
31.2	Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
32.1	Certification by Chief Executive Officer of Periodic Financial Reports pursuant to Section 906 of the
	Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, 18 U.S.C. Section 1350.
32.2	Certification by Chief Financial Officer of Periodic Financial Reports pursuant to Section 906 of the
	Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, 18 U.S.C. Section 1350.
	52